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purposes of EU Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments.
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Prospectus.
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This Prospectus comprises a prospectus for the purposes of EU Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended, to the
extent that such amendments have been implemented in the relevant Member State of the European Economic
Area (the “Prospectus Directive”) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to Shaftesbury
Carnaby PLC (the “Issuer”), Shaftesbury PLC (the “Guarantor”) and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a
whole (the “Group”) and the £285,000,000 2.487 per cent. guaranteed first mortgage bonds due 2031 (the
“Bonds”) which according to the particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Bonds, is necessary to
enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and
losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor. The Issuer and the Guarantor (the “Responsible
Persons”) accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge
and belief of each of the Issuer and the Guarantor (each of which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that
such is the case), the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not
omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited accepts responsibility for the Valuation Report contained in this
Prospectus set out in the section headed "Valuation Report" and declares that to the best of its knowledge and
belief (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in the
Valuation Report is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such
information.
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or
IDCM Limited and Lloyds Bank plc (the “Managers”) to subscribe or purchase, any of the Bonds. The
distribution of this Prospectus and the offering of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.
Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.
For a description of restrictions on offers and sales of Bonds and distribution of this Prospectus, see the
section headed “Subscription and Sale” below.
No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this
Prospectus and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Managers. Neither the delivery of this
Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication
that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof or the date
upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no
adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof or the date upon
which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that the information contained in it
or any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds is correct as of any time subsequent to the
date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Managers accept no responsibility whatsoever for the contents of
this Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by a Manager or on its behalf in
connection with the Issuer, the Guarantor or the issue and offering of the Bonds. Each Manager accordingly
disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above)
which it might otherwise have in respect of this Prospectus or any such statement.
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities
Act”) and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Bonds may not be
offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons.
Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references to “pounds”, “Sterling” and £” are to pounds
sterling. References to “billions” are to thousands of millions.
In connection with the issue of the Bonds, Lloyds Bank plc (“the “Stabilising Manager”) (or any person
acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) may over allot Bonds or effect transitions with a view to
supporting the market price of the Bonds at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However,
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there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager)
will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate
public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Bonds is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it
must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Bonds and 60 days after the date of the
allotment of the Bonds. Any stabilisation action or over allotment must be conducted by the relevant
Stabilising Manager (or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) in accordance with
accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference
This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the sections identified in the table below of
the following documents which have been previously published and which have been approved by the
Financial Conduct Authority or filed with it:
(i)

the Guarantor's 2016 Interim Statement including the Group's unaudited interim financial statements
for the six months ended 31 March 2016, the related notes and independent review report;

(ii)

the Guarantor's 2015 Annual Report and Accounts including the Group's audited financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 September 2015, the related notes and independent auditor's report; and

(iii)

the Guarantor's 2014 Annual Report and Accounts including the Group's audited financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 September 2014, the related notes and independent auditor's report.

Such sections of such documents shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Prospectus, save that any
statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded
for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such
earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded
shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. Those parts of the
documents which are not specifically incorporated by reference in this Prospectus are either not relevant for
prospective investors in the Bonds or the relevant information is included elsewhere in this Prospectus. Any
documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this
Prospectus shall not form part of this Prospectus.
Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus may be obtained (without charge) from the
registered office of the Issuer and the Guarantor and the websites of the Guarantor at www.shaftesbury.co.uk
and the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at
http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/prices-and-news/news/market-news/market-news-home.html.
The table below sets out the relevant page references for the documents which are incorporated in, and form
part of, this Prospectus. Information contained in the documents listed below other than in the pages identified
in the table below do not form part of this Prospectus.

Group's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 31 March 2016
Shaftesbury PLC 2016 Interim Statement
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income ................................................................ Page 20
Group Balance Sheet................................................................................................................
Page 21
Group Cash Flow Statement ................................................................................................
Page 22
Notes ................................................................................................................................Pages 24 – 35
Independent Review Report ................................................................................................
Page 36
Glossary of Terms ....................................................................................................................
Pages 38 – 39
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Group's audited annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2015

Shaftesbury PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................
Pages 105 – 108
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income................................................................ Page 110
Group Balance Sheet ................................................................................................................
Page 111
Group Cash Flow Statement................................................................................................
Page 112
Notes ................................................................................................................................Pages 114 – 139
Glossary of Terms ....................................................................................................................
Page 156

Group's audited annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2014

Shaftesbury PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2014
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................
Pages 83 – 86
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income ................................................................ Page 88
Group Balance Sheet................................................................................................................
Page 89
Group Cash Flow Statement ................................................................................................
Page 90
Notes ................................................................................................................................Pages 92 – 116
Glossary of Terms ...................................................................................................................
Page 122
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Overview
The overview below describes the principal terms of the Bonds and is qualified in its entirety by the more
detailed information contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. Capitalised terms used in this section and not
otherwise defined have the respective meanings given to them in the Conditions.

Issuer:

Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC

Guarantor:

Shaftesbury PLC

Form and Denomination:

The Notes will be issued in bearer form in denominations of
£100,000 and integral multiples of £1 in excess thereof up to and
including £199,999.

Status of the Bonds:

The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, secured and unconditional
obligations of the Issuer, secured in the manner described in
Condition 3 (Security), guaranteed by the Guarantor and shall at all
times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves.

Status of the Guarantee:

The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unsecured and unconditional
obligation of the Guarantor.

Security:

(a) First fixed mortgage charges over Specifically Mortgaged
Premises (as defined in Condition 22 (Definitions)); and
(b) Floating charge over the undertaking and all property, rights
and assets, present and future, wheresoever situated of the
Issuer and any other Charging Company (as defined in
Condition 22 (Definitions)).

Currency:

Pounds sterling.

Principal Amount:

£285,000,000.

Interest Rate:

2.487 per cent. per annum.

Interest Payment Dates:

Interest in respect of the Bonds will be payable semi-annually in
arrear on 30 September and 31 March in each year commencing on
31 March 2017 and ending on the Maturity Date (unless the Bonds
are redeemed or purchased early).

Issue Price:

100 per cent.

Issue Date:

7 October 2016.

Maturity Date:

30 September 2031.

Redemption:

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds
will be redeemed at their nominal amount on the Maturity Date.

Early Redemption for Taxation
Reasons:

The Issuer may, at its option, redeem all, but not some only, of the
Bonds at any time at par plus accrued interest in the event of certain
tax changes, as described in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase).

Early Redemption at the option of
the Issuer:

The Issuer may, at its option, redeem all, or some only, of the Bonds
at any time after the Issue Date at the relevant redemption amount
described in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase).

Change of Control Put Option:

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Put Event (as defined in
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Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of the Bondholder)), each
Bondholder shall have the option to require the Issuer to redeem or
(at the option of the Issuer) purchase the Bonds of such holder at a
cash purchase price equal to the principal amount thereof plus
accrued interest, as described in Condition 8 (Redemption and
Purchase).
Financial Covenants

On the Issue Date (and on the date of any Further Issue under
Condition 18) the Issuer, the Guarantor and any other Charging
Company shall ensure that:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio will be at least 1.67:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio will be at least 1.25:1.

The Issuer will deliver a certificate to the Trustee in accordance with
Condition 4.5 (Compliance Certificate) confirming that:

Asset Cover Ratio or ACR:

(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio is at least 1.5:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.15:1.

means the ratio of (a) the Value of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises to (b) the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding
Bonds.
"Value of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises" means: (i) as at
each Accounting Year End for the Issuer, the valuation of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises as reported by the external valuers
of the Issuer; or (ii) as at each Accounting Half-Year End for the
Issuer, the valuation of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as
reported by the directors of the Issuer.

Interest Cover Ratio or ICR:

means the ratio of (a) the Net Annual Income to (b) gross annual
interest on the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding
Bonds (including any Bonds to be issued in any Further Issue, if
relevant) in each case as at the relevant Ratio Testing Date;
"Net Annual Income" means:
(a) in relation to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, the
amount of the annual income attributable to the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises accruing at or due to commence to
accrue within three months after the date at which the
calculation thereof is made, after deducting any value added
tax but before deducting any other taxation and after making
proper provision for ground and head rents and irrecoverable
recurring expenses in respect of rates, insurance, property
management expenses, repairs and maintenance, but
excluding lease renewal, letting and rent review fees and
marketing and public relations costs; and
(b) in relation to money or Short Gilts (as defined in Condition
22 (Definitions), the amount of annual income accruing
therefrom before deducting tax.
As at each Accounting Year End, the Net Annual Income will be
calculated and reported by the Issuer to the Trustee, such calculation
to be agreed with the Auditors in accordance with Condition 4.3
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(Periodic Valuation and Reporting). As at each Accounting Half-Year
End, the Net Annual Income will be calculated and reported by the
Issuer to the Trustee in accordance with Condition 4.3 (Periodic
Valuation and Reporting).
Testing Frequency:

The ACR and ICR shall be tested semi-annually as at each
Accounting Year End and at each Accounting Half-Year End (each as
defined in Condition 22 (Definitions)) of the Issuer, with a
compliance certificate to be provided to the Trustee within three
calendar months of the end of the relevant accounting period.

Substitution, withdrawal, top-up
and further issues of Bonds:

Substitution
Substitution of all or any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises
with other Eligible Property permitted if the Issuer delivers a
certificate signed by a director of the Issuer to the Trustee certifying
that:
(a) the Value of the Eligible Property and/or the sum of money
being substituted (the "Substituted Property") is not less
than the Value and/or amount of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or part thereof being withdrawn; and
(b) either:
•

the ICR immediately after such substitution will be not
less than 1.25:1; or

•

the Net Annual Income attributable to the Substituted
Property immediately after such substitution will not be
less than the Net Annual Income attributable at the time
of such substitution to the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn.

Withdrawal
If, as at any Ratio Testing Date:
(a) the ACR exceeds 1.67:1; and
(b) the ICR exceeds 1.25:1,
then the Issuer and any other Charging Company may, within four
months of the most recent date on which either the ACR or ICR has
been tested, withdraw any part or parts of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises without substitution but only to the extent of such excess.
Top-up
If based on the criteria for determining the ACR and ICR, as
applicable, as at the most recent date on which either the ACR or ICR
has been tested:
(a) the ACR has fallen below 1.5:1; or
(b) the ICR has fallen below 1.15:1,
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the Issuer will be required, within four months of the most recent date
(or such longer period as the Trustee may agree) on which either the
ACR or ICR has been tested, to charge additional Eligible Property in
favour of the Trustee and/or purchase sufficient Bonds such that the
ACR and ICR after and as a consequence of such top-up will
respectively be not less than 1.67:1 and 1.25:1.
Issue of Bonds and any Further Issue
The Issuer may issue the Bonds and may issue any Bonds pursuant to
a Further Issue (pursuant to Condition 18 (Further Issue)) secured by
the Specifically Mortgaged Premises (being bonds which form a
single series with the existing bonds) providing that, immediately
after the issue thereof: (a) the ACR exceeds 1.67:1; and (b) the ICR
exceeds 1.25:1.
Eligible Property:

means:
(a) the Properties identified in Condition 3.2 (Fixed Charges)
which are expressed by the Trust Deed to be secured on the
Issue Date;
(b) any other Property located in Central London (other than
leasehold Property the term of which expires or may be
determined (other than by forfeiture) by the lessor less than
50 years after the final maturity date of the Bonds or the
lease of which contains provisions which in the opinion of
the Trustee make it unsuitable as security for the Bonds)
which: (i) in the opinion of the Valuers is of a type the
charging of which as part of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises would not prejudice the quality of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises taken as a whole at the time of such
charging; and (ii) in respect of which a certificate of title
reasonably acceptable to the Trustee has been produced;
(c) money or Short Gilts (as defined in Condition 22
(Definitions)); and/or
(d) any other Property or assets situated in Central London (as
defined in Condition 22 (Definitions)) approved in writing
by the Trustee as security for the Bonds,
which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include any additional
interest in any Property for the time being comprised in the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises.

Events on which the security
becomes enforceable:

Events of Default under the Bonds set out in Condition 11 (Events of
Default) include non-payment of principal due for three days, nonpayment of interest for 14 days, cross-acceleration relating to
indebtedness for borrowed money of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any
other Charging Company subject to an aggregate threshold of
£5,000,000 or its equivalent and certain events related to insolvency
or winding up of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Charging
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Company.
Withholding Tax and Additional
Amounts:

The Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will pay such
additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts
received by each Bondholder in respect of the Bonds, after
withholding for any taxes imposed by tax authorities in the United
Kingdom upon payments in respect of the Bonds made by or on
behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor, will equal the respective
amounts which would have been received in the absence of any such
withholding taxes, subject to customary exceptions, as described in
Condition 10 (Taxation).

Governing Law:

The Bonds, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with the Bonds, will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, English law.

Clearing and Settlement:

Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking S.A..

Trustee and Security Trustee:

Prudential Trustee Company Limited.

Principal Paying Agent:

Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch.

Listing and Admission to Trading:

Regulated Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Selling Restrictions:

There are restrictions of offers of the Bonds into, or to persons
resident in, the United States, the United Kingdom and elsewhere.
See the section headed “Subscription and Sale”.
Category 2 selling restrictions will apply to the Bonds and the
Guarantee for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act.
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Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises
1

Addresses of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises
The addresses of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises are set out below:
(i)

31 to 47 (odd numbers) and 46/48 Beak Street

(ii)

46, 57 (Stirling Court), 61 to 69 (including Jaeger House), 71 and 74/76 Broadwick Street

(iii)

1 to 16 and 21 to 30 Carnaby Street (including 28A)

(iv)

Marshall House, 47 to 50 & 52 to 53 Marshall Street

(v)

5 to 21 (odd numbers) and 26 to 32 (even numbers) Foubert's Place

(vi)

31/32 Kingly Street (including Lasenby House)

(vii)

27/28 Great Marlborough Street

(viii) 1, 9 to 14 Little Marlborough Street
(ix)

2 to 12 (even numbers) Ganton Street

(x)

41, 48 and 49 Lexington Street

(xi)

3, 5 and 6 Lowndes Court

(xii)

1/2 and 33 to 37 Marshall Street

(xiii) 1 to 4 Marlborough Court
(xiv) 1 to 17 Newburgh Street (including 12A)
(xv)

1/2 Silver Place

(xvi) 20 Beak Street & 6 Upper John Street
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2

Plan
An indicative plan of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises is set out below:
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Risk Factors
The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their
obligations under the Bonds. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and neither
the Issuer nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency
occurring.
Factors which the Issuer and the Guarantor believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market
risks associated with the Bonds are also described below.
The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in
investing in the Bonds, but the Issuer or the Guarantor may be unable to pay interest, principal or other
amounts on or in connection with the Bonds or the Guarantee for other reasons, and the Issuer and the
Guarantor do not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Bonds are exhaustive.
Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any
investment decision.
1

Risks relating to the Group and its business
External events which discourage visitors to London's West End
The prosperity of London’s West End economy and, in turn, the Group’s retail and restaurant tenants is
dependent on large numbers of domestic and overseas visitors to the area. External events that threaten visitor
security, such as, but not limited to, terrorist attacks and significant public health concerns, if sustained, could
result in a significant reduction in visitor numbers over an extended period. This would adversely affect
trading conditions for the Group’s tenants.
Public transport services are essential in bringing into London’s West End the large numbers of visitors on
which the Group’s retail and restaurant tenants depend. The failure of any one of London’s transport services,
significant and sustained disruption (in excess of normal course delays) to these services and/or any
detrimental change to local or national policy in respect of transport may lead to a significant and potentially
sustained drop in visitors to London’s West End, adversely affecting trading conditions for the Group’s
tenants.
Any of the abovementioned external events could affect the level of demand for the Group’s properties,
leading to a decrease in net rental income and a consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property
portfolio. This could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.
An external event, such as a terrorist attack, could result in loss or damage to any of the Group's properties
An external event, such as a terrorist attack, could result in loss or damage to any one of the Group's
properties. Whilst the Group maintains commercial insurance in an amount it believes is appropriate against
risks commonly insured against by companies carrying on similar businesses, including loss of rent, loss or
damage by fire, earthquake, malicious damage and acts of terrorism (subject to such insurance being available
in the UK), the Group may find that it is unable to recover costs in respect of loss or damage to its properties
(see "Risks relating to the Security for the Bonds – Sufficiency of Insurance").
Competing destinations which lead to long-term decline in the number of visitors to London’s West End
Competing destinations could result in a sustained and significant reduction in visitor numbers to London's
West End, as the prosperity of London’s West End economy is dependent on large numbers of visitors to the
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area. If this occurred, it would adversely affect trading conditions for the Group’s tenants, leading to a
decrease in net rental income and a consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property portfolio.
This may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial
condition or prospects.
Changes in the policies of local authorities
All of the Group’s properties are located within the jurisdictions of Westminster City Council and the London
Borough of Camden. Although the Group works closely with these local authorities, changes in local council
policies, particularly policies relating to planning and licensing, could have a significant adverse effect on the
Group’s ability to maximize the long-term potential of its properties. Any such changes in local council
policies may limit the future use of the Group's properties which could limit its ability to optimise revenues
from the Group's property portfolio. Were this to occur, this could have a material adverse effect on the value
of the Group’s property portfolio. This may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business,
results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
Adverse economic conditions and dependency on tenants
The Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Bonds will depend on the Group continuing to receive
rent from its tenants. A decline in the performance of the global or UK economies could adversely affect the
trading conditions of the Group's tenants. The Issuer's ability to fulfil such obligations could be affected if
occupancy levels were to fall materially and/or if a significant number of tenants were unable to meet their
obligations. Economic uncertainty and lower consumer confidence could lead to a reduction in numbers of
visitors to London's West End, tenant demand, net rental income and occupancy levels in the West End
property market.
Whilst the local economy in London's West End has a long history of economic resilience compared with
other areas in the UK, a significant and sustained deterioration in the global or UK economic environment
could have a negative effect on the value of the Group's portfolio and a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In particular, as existing leases terminate or
become subject to tenant break options or space needs to be re-let for other reasons, there can be no assurance
that such space will be re-let or, if re-let, that it will be re-let on terms (including rental levels) as favourable
to the Group as those currently, or then, existing or that new tenants will be as creditworthy as existing
tenants.
External market and macro-economic factors
Many external market and macro-economic factors, such as interest rate changes, currency fluctuations,
changes in gilt or bond yields, the availability and cost of finance and the relative attraction of property
against other asset classes could adversely affect occupational and investor demand for property.
The recent referendum held in the UK on 23 June 2016 resulted in a vote for the UK to exit the European
Union. This has created political and economic uncertainty which may continue to affect market and macroeconomic conditions in both the UK and EU economies, until the basis for future arrangements has been
agreed. This uncertainty could adversely affect occupational and/or investor demand for property.
A reduction in occupational demand for the Group’s property could lead to a decrease in net rental income
and a consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property portfolio. This could, in turn, have a
material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Reduced investor demand for property in the West End which is similar in nature to the Group's property, or a
rise in long-term gilt yields, bond yields or swap rates could lead to a reduction in property values and, as a
consequence, a fall in the value of the Group's property portfolio.
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A significant reduction in the value of the Group’s property portfolio would adversely affect its gearing and
loan-to-value ratios, which could result in a breach of the related financial covenants in the Bonds and the
Group’s banking and other debt facilities. Cross-default provisions in the Group’s borrowing arrangements,
including financial derivatives, could magnify the effect of any breach of financial covenants with an
individual lender, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operation,
financial condition and prospects. The Group is exposed to movements in interest rates which affect the
amount of interest paid on borrowings. The Group has a number of banking facilities and operates an interest
rate hedging strategy to protect itself by reducing the potential volatility in net cash flow caused by
fluctuations in interest rates. As at 31 March 2016, approximately 90.9 per cent. of the Group's drawn debt
was fixed or hedged. To the extent that the Group does not hedge its exposure to interest rate fluctuations, the
Group may incur higher than expected interest costs, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
The Guarantor may not be able to refinance its existing or future debt obligations
The Guarantor funds the Group through a mix of equity and debt. Its financial indebtedness includes
corporate debt, revolving credit facilities and related hedging arrangements. This financial indebtedness has
contractual maturities or early termination options which fall before the maturity of the Bonds. The Board
expects to refinance this financial indebtedness in advance of its contractual maturities. The Guarantor’s
ability to refinance maturing arrangements when required will depend on the Group's ability to raise debt or
equity financing, or sell assets. The ability to raise debt or equity financing will depend on many factors
outside of the Group's control, including conditions in the international credit and capital markets at the time.
The Group's ability to sell assets will depend on property market conditions outside of the Group's control. If
the Group is unable to refinance its existing or future obligations, this may have a material adverse effect on
the Group's business, results of operation, financial condition and prospects.
Property valuation is inherently subjective and uncertain
The valuation of the Group’s wholly-owned property and the Group’s share of the Longmartin Properties is
undertaken by independent third party valuers. The valuation is inherently subjective due to, amongst other
factors, the individual nature and condition of each property, its location and the expected future rental
income. As a result, the valuations the Group places on its property portfolio are subject to a degree of
uncertainty and are made on the basis of assumptions which may not prove to be accurate, particularly in
periods of volatility or low transaction flow in the commercial property market. The valuers make certain
independent assumptions when preparing their property valuations. There is no assurance that the valuations
of the Group’s properties will be reflected in any actual transaction prices, even where any such transactions
occur shortly after the relevant valuation date, or that initial yields and ERV will prove to be attainable.
Incorrect or flawed assessments underlying the valuation could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects and could potentially inhibit the Group’s
ability to realise a sale price that reflects the stated valuation or to raise financing using the Group’s properties
as security.
Energy performance regulations
The Energy Act 2011 includes a provision whereby from April 2018 it will be unlawful to rent out premises
with an Energy Performance Certificate ("EPC") rating which, according to Government proposals issued in
February 2015, falls below an "E" rating. For those premises which are subject to leases commencing before
April 2018, but which have a term extending to on, or after, 1 April 2023, a valid EPC that is in place at 1
April 2023 must have at least an "E" rating.
Of the current premises within the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises, 65 per cent. by number currently
have an EPC rating at or above an "E" rating. 35 per cent. of the premises by number currently either do not
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have an EPC, or the EPC rating is below an "E" rating, of which nearly 15 per cent. by number, are comprised
within listed buildings, for which there are certain exemptions afforded by the Energy Act 2011.
The Group maintains a register of EPCs and is undertaking a phased programme of improvements of relevant
premises as and when it obtains possession following vacation of the premises by a tenant prior to a new
tenant taking possession, to bring the premises to a standard where they will achieve an appropriate EPC
rating within the constraints imposed by current conservation area and listed buildings legislation.
If it were unlawful for premises to be let as a result of the Energy Act 2011 and no exemption for them were
available, then this could lead to a decrease in net rental income in relation to those premises and a
consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property portfolio. This could, in turn, have a material
adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
2

Certain risks related to the Bonds
Liability of the Issuer and the Guarantor under the Bonds
The Bonds constitute direct, general, secured obligations of the Issuer and rank equally among themselves.
The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unconditional and unsecured obligation of the Guarantor and ranks equally
with all other outstanding and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor. The Bonds are obligations of the Issuer
and (pursuant to the Guarantee) the Guarantor only and do not establish any liability or other obligation of
any other person mentioned in this Prospectus.
The Guarantee is unsecured and as the holding company of the Group, the Guarantor is largely reliant on
cash flows from the Group
The Guarantee is unsecured and accordingly holders of the Bonds may be restricted in the extent to which
they have recourse to the Guarantor owing to other existing or future secured indebtedness within the Group
and upon the Guarantor. In particular, as the holding company of the Group, the Guarantor operates primarily
through its direct and indirect subsidiaries and affiliates. Repayment of its indebtedness, including under the
Guarantee, is therefore dependent on the ability of its subsidiaries and affiliates to make cash available to the
Guarantor through dividend distributions, debt repayment, loans or otherwise. Such subsidiaries or affiliates
may not be able to, or may be restricted by the terms of their existing or future secured or unsecured
indebtedness, or by law, in their ability to make distributions or advance upstream loans to enable the
Guarantor to make payments in respect of its indebtedness, including the Guarantee. Furthermore, although
the Conditions and the Security impose restrictions on the incurrence of additional secured indebtedness by
the Issuer, and any other Charging Company (if any), these restrictions do not extend to the Guarantor or
other members of the Group. If new debt is added to the Guarantor's or Group's existing debt levels, the
related risks that the Group now faces would increase.
In the event that the Guarantor does not receive distributions or other payments from its subsidiaries or
affiliates, it may be unable to make required principal and interest payments on its indebtedness, including the
Guarantee. The Guarantor does not expect to have any other sources of funds that would allow it to make
payments under the Guarantee.
Redemption prior to maturity
In the event that the Bonds become repayable prior to maturity following an Event of Default (as defined in
Condition 11 (Events of Default)) or the option of the Issuer (pursuant to Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the
Option of the Issuer)), the Bonds will be redeemed at the Redemption Price, plus accrued interest (if
applicable).
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In the event that the Bonds become repayable prior to maturity due to taxation (pursuant to Condition 8.2
(Redemption for Taxation Reasons)) the Bonds will be redeemed in full at their nominal amount, plus accrued
interest (if applicable).
In any such circumstances it may not be possible for an investor to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an
effective rate of interest as high as the interest rate on the Bonds. Furthermore, the optional redemption
feature of the Bonds is likely to limit their market value as the market value generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed.
Change of Control Put Event
Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Bondholder) of the Bonds provides that the Bonds are
redeemable at their nominal amount, plus accrued interest (if applicable), at the option of the Bondholder
upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Put Event. A Change of Control Put Option may arise at times
when the prevailing interest rates may be lower than at issuance. In such circumstances an investor may not
be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate equivalent to
that of the Bonds. Once given, a Change of Control Put Notice is irrevocable and the Bondholder will be
required to undertake in the Change of Control Put Notice not to sell or transfer the relevant Bonds for the
duration of the Change of Control Put Period.
In the event that some, but not all, Bondholders exercise their Change of Control Put Option, this may reduce
the liquidity of any trading market for the Bonds. If 80 per cent. or more in nominal amount of the Bonds
originally issued are redeemed as a result of the exercise of the Change of Control Put Option, the Issuer may
redeem at its option all the remaining Bonds at their nominal amount, plus accrued interest (if applicable).
Modification, waivers and substitution
The Conditions and the Trust Deed contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to consider
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Bondholders,
including Bondholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a
manner contrary to the majority.
The Conditions and the Trust Deed also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Bondholders or
Couponholders: (i) agree to any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed (including the
Conditions) that is in the opinion of the Trustee of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a
manifest error; or (ii) (x) agree to any other modification of the Trust Deed (including the Conditions), or (y)
agree to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Trust
Deed (including the Conditions); or (z) determine that any Event of Default shall not be treated as such,
provided, in each case, that the Trustee is of the opinion that to do so would not be materially prejudicial to
the interest of Bondholders.
Denominations involve integral multiples: definitive Bonds
The Bonds have denominations consisting of a minimum of £100,000 plus integral multiples of £1 in excess
thereof, up to and including £199,999. It is possible that the Bonds may be traded in the clearing systems in
amounts that are not integral multiples of £100,000. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such
amounts, holds an amount which is less than £100,000 in his account with the relevant clearing system at the
relevant time may not receive a definitive Bond in respect of such holding (should definitive Bonds be
printed) and would need to purchase a nominal amount of Bonds such that its holding amounts to £100,000.
If definitive Bonds are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Bonds which have a denomination that
is not an integral multiple of £100,000 may be illiquid and difficult to trade.
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Change in law
The Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the Issue Date and on the UK's current membership of
the European Union. A significant proportion of English law currently derives from or is designed to operate
in concert with European Union law. This is especially true of English law relating to financial markets,
financial services, payment services and systems, settlement finality, market infrastructure, the EPC regime
and energy rating requirements. Depending on the timing and terms of any exit by the UK from the European
Union, there could be significant changes to English law in areas relevant to the Group or the Bonds. No
assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or
administrative practice after the date of issue of the Bonds and any such change could materially adversely
impact the value of the Bonds.
Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments
The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review
or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine
whether and to what extent (1) the Bonds are legal investments for it, (2) the Bonds can be used as collateral
for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of the Bonds.
Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the
appropriate treatment of the Bonds under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
3

Risks relating to the Security of the Bonds
Title investigations in respect of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises
Certificates of title have been prepared and will be issued on or before the Issue Date in respect of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises (set out in paragraph 1 of the section headed "Initial Specifically Mortgaged
Premises") which will, on the Issue Date, be charged by way of legal mortgage in favour of the Trustee for the
benefit of the Bondholders and the Trustee. The certificates of title will be addressed to the Trustee in
contemplation of the issue of the Bonds.
Each of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises has been subject to certain title investigations in
contemplation of the issue of the Bonds. This investigation includes searches at the Land Registry to confirm,
among other things, the legal ownership of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises. In addition, searches
have been conducted in the Register of Companies in England and Wales to confirm that there are no
registered charges granted by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises or
(to the extent that it can be disclosed by such searches) any beneficial interest therein (except to secure the
Bonds).
Except as required by the certificates of title and as stated above, no additional searches or enquiries will be
made in respect of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises or the Issuer. To the extent that there are
material issues which would have been revealed by such additional searches or inquiries, this may have a
material adverse effect on the value of the Group's property portfolio.
Title issue in relation to a part of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises
The redevelopment works being undertaken to the part of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises known
as 57 Broadwick Street (Jaeger House) are currently on-going and the construction documentation is in the
process of negotiation. The Issuer expects the redevelopment works to be completed in 2017. The planning
permission for this redevelopment work requires that new residential accommodation must be provided and
this will be satisfied by Shaftesbury CL Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor, at property
located at 52 Shaftesbury Avenue. The residential accommodation requirement must be satisfied before the
redevelopment at 57 Broadwick Street can be occupied and Shaftesbury CL Limited has given a covenant to
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the Issuer that it will comply with this requirement. This covenant is transferable on any sale of 57 Broadwick
Street. The Guarantor expects the construction of 52 Shaftesbury Avenue to be completed by November 2017,
on or before the completion of construction of 57 Broadwick Street. If the residential accommodation
requirement is not satisfied, this could have a material adverse effect on the value of the property.
Considerations relating to the Security
The Bonds are secured by the Security granted, pursuant to the Trust Deed, in favour of the Trustee for the
benefit of the Trustee, the Bondholders and the other Secured Creditors and such security includes: (i) first
fixed legal mortgages over the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises; and (ii) a floating charge over the
undertaking and all property, rights and assets, present and future, wheresoever situated of the Issuer and any
other Charging Company (if any). If any such security is invalid, it may not be enforceable by the Trustee.
The validity of any security given by any other Charging Company (if any) in connection with additional and
substitutions of Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises may depend on the solvency of such Charging
Company at the time of the grant.
Environmental Considerations
Under relevant UK environmental legislation, liability for environmental matters can be imposed on the
"owner" or "person in control" of land. The term "owner" is not specifically defined and could include anyone
with a proprietary interest in a property. This could include a representative of a trustee as a mortgagee in
possession (in respect of which see the risk factor entitled "Mortgagee in Possession Liability" below).
Environmental laws may impose liability on the owner for clean-up costs if a property is or becomes
contaminated. The Issuer or any other Charging Company (if any) may therefore be liable for the entire
amount of the clean-up and redemption costs for a contaminated site regardless of whether the contamination
was caused by it or not. These costs may be significant.
In addition, the presence of hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to adequately remedy adverse
environmental conditions at any Specifically Mortgaged Premises, may adversely affect the value of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises, as well as the Charging Company's ability to sell, lease or refinance the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises. Any environmental liability imposed on the Issuer, the Guarantor or another
member of the Group could (directly or indirectly) result in a shortfall in funds available to repay the Bonds.
Sufficiency of Insurance
Although each of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises is required to be insured at appropriate levels and
against customary risks, there can be no assurance that any loss incurred will be of a type covered by such
insurance, nor can there be any assurance that the loss will not exceed the limits of such insurance. In
particular, the insurance policies in place may prove inadequate to cover lost income, reinstatement costs,
increased expenses or other liabilities and as such there can be no assurance that the Group would not be
forced to bear substantial uninsured losses irrespective of insurance coverage. Moreover, there can be no
assurance that if insurance cover is cancelled or not renewed, replacement cover will be available
on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, there are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as floods, storms,
terrorism or acts of war that may be uninsurable or are not economically insurable. Inflation, changes in
building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and other factors, including terrorism or acts of
war, also might result in insurance proceeds being insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged
or destroyed. No assurance can be given that material losses in excess of insurance proceeds will not occur in
the future. Any reduction in income or any loss or damage caused to any Specifically Mortgaged Premises not
adequately covered by insurance could result in a shortfall in funds available to repay the Bonds.

20

The Issuer or any other Charging Company (if any) may be subject to insolvency proceedings
Under English law, most creditors would (save where an administrator or a liquidator has been appointed) be
able to commence insolvency or winding up proceedings against the Issuer or any other Charging Company
(if any) in respect of any unpaid debt.
If the Issuer or any other Charging Company goes into administration it will not be possible to enforce the
security without the permission of the administrator or the court. The Specifically Mortgaged Premises may
be sold free of any security to which they are subject (with the approval of the courts), although the proceeds
of sale would be available to be applied towards the redemption of the Bonds. Were the Issuer to be placed
into liquidation, whether following an application to the court by the Issuer or any creditor of the Issuer or on
the passing of a resolution by the Shareholders of the Issuer, there would be no restrictions on the
enforcement of the security given by the Issuer.
An administrator may be appointed by order of the court made on an application by, amongst others, the
Issuer, the directors of the Issuer or one or more creditors of the Issuer. In addition, the holder of a qualifying
floating charge (being, broadly, a floating charge which, when taken together with the other security granted
to a particular creditor, covers all or substantially all of the assets of a company), the directors of the Issuer
and the Issuer may appoint an administrator without applying to the court for an order. Generally, if various of
those entities wish to appoint an administrator the appointment made by the holder of a qualifying floating
charge will prevail.
The Conditions and the Trust Deed do not prohibit the Issuer from granting security to a third party, which
security may include a qualifying floating charge. Therefore, should such a creditor take enforcement action
by appointment of an administrator then the identity of that administrator can be determined by that creditor.
However, once appointed an administrator owes duties to, amongst others, the Issuer, creditors generally and
does not (unlike a receiver) owe duties primarily to his appointing creditor.
Mortgagee in Possession Liability
There is a risk that the Trustee may be deemed to be a mortgagee in possession if it physically enters into
possession of any of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises. The consequence of being a mortgagee in
possession would be that the Trustee may be obliged to account to the relevant Charging Company for the
income obtained from the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, be liable for any damage to the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises, have limited liability to repair the Specifically Mortgaged Premises and, in certain
circumstances, may be obliged to make improvements or incur financial liabilities in respect of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises. A mortgagee in possession may also be liable to a tenant for any
mismanagement of the relevant property and may incur liabilities to third parties in nuisance and negligence
and, under certain statutes (including environmental legislation), the liabilities of a property owner. Any such
matter could impact the amount to be recovered by Bondholders from the Security.
Assignment of rents in the case of enforcement
The assignment of rents derived from the Specifically Mortgaged Premises will, without notice being given to
the tenants of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, take effect as an equitable assignment. They will
nevertheless be binding on any liquidator or other creditor of the Issuer or any other Charging Company (if
any) subject to certain equities. The failure to give notice to the tenants means that tenants will validly
discharge those payment obligations under their tenancy agreements by making payments directly to the
relevant Charging Company and not to the Trustee. This in turn may adversely affect the repayment of the
Bonds until such time as notice is given to the tenants of the assignment of such rents.
In the event that a receiver is appointed in respect of the Issuer or any other Charging Company (if any), a
notice will be sent to the tenants of the relevant Charging Company instructing them to make rental payments
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to the receiver. However, there can be no guarantee that the tenants will receive any such notice, or that they
will act on the notice, even though they are legally required to do so. If the tenants continue to make payments
to the relevant Charging Company, rather than to the receiver, the income received by the Trustee for
application in accordance with the Trust Deed may be adversely affected, which in turn may adversely affect
the repayment of the Bonds.
4

Risks relating to the bond market generally
The secondary market generally
Bonds may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Bonds easily or at prices that
will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market.
No formal credit ratings
The Bonds have not been assigned a credit rating by any rating agency to date and nor does the Issuer
currently have any intention of applying for a credit rating from any credit rating agency. However, one or
more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to some or all of the Bonds prior to their
redemption. Any such ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks relating to the market, additional
factors discussed above and other factors that may affect the value of the Bonds. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the relevant rating agency
at any time.
The Clearing Systems
As the Global Bonds may be held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg investors will
have to rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for transfer, payment and
communication with the Issuer.
A holder of an interest in a Global Bond must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg to receive payments under the Bonds. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records
relating to, or payments made in respect of, interests in the Global Bonds.
Holders of interests in the Global Bonds will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Bonds.
Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg.
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Terms and Conditions of the Bonds
The following are the terms and conditions substantially in the form to be endorsed on the Bonds in definitive
form (if issued):
The issue of the £285,000,000 2.487 per cent. first mortgage bonds due 2031 (the “Bonds”) and the granting
of the security was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC (the
“Issuer”) passed on 27 September 2016 and 28 September 2016 and the guarantee of the Bonds was
authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Shaftesbury PLC (the “Guarantor”) passed on 21
September 2016 and resolutions of a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed
on 27 September 2016 and 28 September 2016.
The Bonds are constituted by a Trust Deed (the “Trust Deed”) to be dated on or around 7 October 2016 (the
“Issue Date”) between the Issuer, the Guarantor and Prudential Trustee Company Limited (the “Trustee”
which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as
trustee for the holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”). These terms and conditions (the “Conditions”)
include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form
of the Bonds and the coupons relating to them (the “Coupons”). Security for, among other things, the Bonds
is created by the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trust Deed and of the Paying Agency Agreement dated on or
around the Issue Date relating to the Bonds between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee and the initial
principal paying agent named in it (the “Paying Agency Agreement”), are available for inspection during
usual business hours at the specified office of the Trustee (presently at Laurence Pountney Hill, London EC4R
0HH, United Kingdom) and at the specified offices of the principal paying agent for the time being (the
“Principal Paying Agent”) and the other paying agents (if any) for the time being (the “Paying Agents”,
which expression shall include the Principal Paying Agent). The Bondholders and the holders of the Coupons
(whether or not attached to the relevant Bonds) (the “Couponholders”) are entitled to the benefit of, are
bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have
notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Paying Agency Agreement. Capitalised terms used herein
shall have the meaning given to them in Condition 22.
1

2

Form, Denomination and Title
1.1

Form and denomination: The Bonds are serially numbered and in bearer form in the denomination of
£100,000 and integral multiples of £1 in excess thereof, up to and including £199,999 each, with
Coupons attached on issue. No definitive Bonds will be issued with a denomination above £199,999.

1.2

Title: Title to the Bonds and Coupons passes by delivery. The holder of any Bond or Coupon will
(except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not
it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it, or
its theft or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

Guarantee and Status
2.1

Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all
sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons. Its
obligations in that respect (the “Guarantee”) are contained in the Trust Deed.

2.2

Status of Bonds and Guarantee: The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, secured and
unconditional obligations of the Issuer, secured in the manner described in Condition 3, and shall at all
times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The Guarantee constitutes a
direct, unsecured and unconditional obligation of the Guarantor. The payment obligations of the Issuer
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under the Bonds and the Coupons shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable
legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and future unsubordinated secured
obligations. The payment obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such
exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all its
other present and future unsecured unsubordinated obligations.
3

4

Security
3.1

Grant of Security: The Trustee, the Bondholders and the other Secured Creditors will share in the
benefit of the Security. The Security is granted by the Issuer and any other Charging Company under
the Trust Deed in favour of the Trustee, on trust for and on behalf of itself, the Bondholders and the
other Secured Creditors on the terms of the Trust Deed as security for the Secured Liabilities.

3.2

Fixed Charges: The Security includes (but is not limited to) a first legal mortgage (which shall take
effect as an equitable mortgage until requisite registrations have been made by the Issuer and any other
Charging Company) (and to the extent that they are not subject to a mortgage, by way of first fixed
charge) granted by the Issuer with respect to all of its respective rights, title, interest and benefit
existing now and in the future, in and to the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises together with all
buildings, structures, fixtures including trade fixtures (but excluding fixtures, plant and machinery
belonging to tenants) and fixed plant and machinery for the time being thereon and all improvements
and additions thereto and all easements, rights, power and licences appurtenant thereto subject to and
with the benefit of all leases, underleases, tenancies, agreements for lease, rights, covenants and
conditions respectively affecting the same but otherwise free from encumbrance, all as more
particularly set out in the Trust Deed.

3.3

Floating Charges: In addition to the provisions of Condition 3.2, each of the Issuer’s and any other
Charging Company’s present and future payment obligations under the Transaction Documents and
each Bond and Coupon are secured in favour of the Trustee, pursuant to the Trust Deed, by way of first
floating charge over all of the undertaking and property, rights and assets, both present and future,
wheresoever situated (including any uncalled capital) of the Issuer and any other Charging Company
(including but not limited to the assets expressed to be mortgaged or charged by Condition 3.2).

Covenants and Valuations
4.1

General Covenants of the Issuer and any other Charging Company: so long as any Bond or
Coupon remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), neither the Issuer nor any other Charging
Company, if any, will create, permit to subsist or have outstanding any Security Interest, other than the
Security or any Permitted Security, upon the whole or any part of its present or future undertaking,
property, rights and assets or revenues (including but not limited to the Charged Assets).

4.2

Financial Covenants: on the Issue Date (and on the date of any Further Issue under Condition 18), the
Issuer, the Guarantor and any other Charging Company shall ensure that:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio will be at least 1.67:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio will be at least 1.25:1.

Definitions:
“Asset Cover Ratio” means the ratio of (a) the Value of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises to (b)
the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding Bonds;
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“Interest Cover Ratio” means the ratio of (a) the Net Annual Income to (b) gross annual interest on
the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding Bonds (including any Bonds to be issued in any
Further Issue, if relevant) in each case as at the relevant Ratio Testing Date;
“Net Annual Income” means:
(a)

in relation to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, the amount of the annual income
attributable to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises accruing at or due to commence to
accrue within three months after the date at which the calculation thereof is made, after
deducting any value added tax but before deducting any other taxation and after making
proper provision for ground and head rents and irrecoverable recurring expenses in
respect of rates, insurance, property management expenses, repairs and maintenance, but
excluding lease renewal, letting and rent review fees and marketing and public relations
costs; and

(b)

in relation to money or Short Gilts, the amount of annual income accruing therefrom
based on the rate then accruing therefrom before deducting tax.

As at each Accounting Year End, the Net Annual Income will be calculated and reported by the Issuer
to the Trustee in accordance with Condition 4.3, such calculation to be agreed with the Auditors. As at
each Accounting Half-Year End or at any other date on which it is required to be calculated, the Net
Annual Income will be calculated and reported by the Issuer to the Trustee in accordance with
Condition 4.3.
“Ratio Testing Date” means the Accounting Year End or Accounting Half-Year End in each calendar
year or any other date on which a Valuation is required to be performed pursuant to these Conditions.
4.3

Periodic Valuation and Reporting
4.3.1

4.3.2

The Issuer and the Guarantor undertake to carry out a Valuation of all Specifically Mortgaged
Premises (including, for the purpose of paragraph (iii) below, any Substituted Property) and the
Issuer undertakes to report on the Net Annual Income attributable to the whole (or in the case of
Condition 4.3.1(iii), the lesser part referred to therein) of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises:
(i)

before the expiry of each Reporting Period;

(ii)

within three months prior to any Further Issue, as described in Condition 18; and

(iii)

within four months prior to any substitution in accordance with Condition 6,
PROVIDED THAT, in the context of any such substitution, a Valuation shall only be
required in respect of any of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises which are being
withdrawn from the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or are intended to become part of
the Charged Assets.

Following an Event of Default or if the Issuer or Guarantor fails to provide any required
Valuation or a report by the Issuer on the Net Annual Income attributable to the whole (or such
lesser part) of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises in accordance with the Conditions and the
Trust Deed the Trustee shall have the right but not the obligation on behalf of any Charging
Company to instruct the Valuers to provide a Valuation or the Issuer to provide the relevant
report, as soon as reasonably practicable, the same at the expense of the Issuer, failing whom
the Guarantor, PROVIDED THAT the Trustee shall notify the Issuer or the Guarantor prior to
taking any such action under this Condition 4.3.2.
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4.4

Valuations, Reports and Financial Statements:
4.4.1

Before the expiry of each Reporting Period, or at any other date on which a Valuation is
required pursuant to Condition 4.3, the Issuer shall send to the Trustee a Valuation together with
a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer confirming the Net Annual Income (“NAI
Certificate”) (the NAI Certificate in respect of an Accounting Year End to be prepared by the
Issuer and signed by the Auditors to indicate their agreement to it) prepared pursuant to
Condition 4.3 and, at such time, a list of all substitutions to, withdrawals from and/or additions
to the Charged Assets occurring since the previously applicable Ratio Testing Date.

4.4.2

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor shall, as applicable:
(i)

before the expiry of each Reporting Period, prepare and send to the Trustee the Issuer’s
and Guarantor’s Financial Statements and (in the case of the Guarantor) semi-annual
Financial Statements; and

(ii)

(x) in the case of the Guarantor only, at the time of issue send to the Trustee a copy of
any circular or notice issued to its shareholders or stockholders (or any class thereof) and
(y) in the case of each Charging Company copies of those of such documents as such
Charging Company is required to distribute to its shareholders or stockholders (as the
case may be) by law at the time of such distribution if so requested in writing by the
Trustee.

4.4.3

Before the expiry of each Reporting Period, the Guarantor shall procure publication on the
Group’s website of the Guarantor’s annual consolidated annual Financial Statements and semiannual Financial Statements.

4.4.4

Before the expiry of each Reporting Period, the Issuer or any other Charging Company, failing
which the Guarantor, shall procure publication on the Group’s website of:

4.4.5

(i)

a list of the properties constituting the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as at the latest
Ratio Testing Date;

(ii)

the aggregate Value of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as shown by the most recent
Valuation;

(iii)

the Net Annual Income of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as shown by the most
recent NAI Certificate;

(iv)

the total number of tenants of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises at the latest Ratio
Testing Date;

(v)

a pie chart reflecting the rent roll by type of tenant usage in respect of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises at the latest Ratio Testing Date; and

(vi)

the names of the ten tenants paying the highest amounts of annual rent and the aggregate
percentage of the rent roll of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises they represented as at
the latest Ratio Testing Date.

Within two months after the expiry of each Reporting Period that relates to an Accounting Year
End, the Issuer, failing which the Guarantor, shall arrange a call or a meeting at which it will
provide an investor update to Bondholders. The Issuer and/or the Guarantor will publish details
of such call or meeting at least one week in advance of the meeting by publication through a
Regulatory Information Service.
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4.5

Compliance Certificate: The Issuer shall, concurrently with the delivery of each Valuation and NAI
Certificate (each in accordance with Condition 4.4) provide to the Trustee a certificate or certificates in
such form as the Trustee may reasonably require signed by two Directors of the Issuer (i) confirming
that the Asset Cover Ratio is at least 1.5:1 and the Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.15:1 and (ii)
containing particulars of all (if any) withdrawals, additions and substitutions of Property made under
Conditions 5 or 6 since the date of the last such certificate provided to the Trustee, and including
(where Property has been withdrawn) the name and address of such Property and (where Property has
been added or substituted) the name and address of such Property and, to the best of the knowledge of
the Issuer and the Guarantor, its age and tenure.

4.6

Insurance covenant: Each of the Issuer and any other Charging Company will insure and keep
insured or procure the maintenance of insurance of the relevant Specifically Mortgaged Premises in
accordance with to the terms of the Trust Deed.

Withdrawal and top-up
5.1

Withdrawal: If, as at any Ratio Testing Date:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio shall be in excess of 1.67:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio shall be in excess of 1.25:1,

then any Charging Company (with the consent of the Guarantor) may within four months (unless
another Ratio Testing Date has since occurred, in which case the ability of any Charging Company to
withdraw will depend on such ratios on such other Ratio Testing Date) after the relevant Ratio Testing
Date withdraw any part or parts of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises charged by it (which shall be
approved for withdrawal by the Trustee) without substituting other Property or assets therefor but only
to the extent of such excess and may require the Trustee to release and surrender to such Charging
Company or as it may direct or to concur in a conveyance or transfer by such Charging Company of
the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn so that the same shall
thenceforth no longer form part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises. The Trustee shall, without
liability for so doing, release the relevant Specifically Mortgaged Premises from the Security and
execute any documents requested by the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any other Charging Company in
order to effect such release, without further authorisation from the other Secured Creditors, provided it
has received a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer confirming that (i) no Event of Default
has occurred which is then continuing and (ii) the foregoing conditions have been met. All rights of
withdrawal under this Condition 5.1 shall cease upon an Event of Default.
5.2

Top-up: If, as at any Ratio Testing Date:
(i)
(ii)

the Asset Cover Ratio shall be less than 1.5:1; or
the Interest Cover Ratio shall be less than 1.15:1,

then within four months (or such longer period as the Trustee may agree) after such Ratio Testing
Date:
5.2.1

the Issuer shall, and in the case of a Charging Company, if any, shall procure that such Charging
Company (with the consent of the Guarantor) shall, charge additional Eligible Property in
favour of the Trustee and to its satisfaction by way of first legal mortgage so as to become part
of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises such Eligible Property not already forming part of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises and/or pay to or to the order of the Trustee a sum of money to
be held as part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises of an aggregate Value or having
aggregate attributable Net Annual Income (as the case may be) sufficient to make good the
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deficiency below the relevant cover ratio specified in Condition 5.2(i) or 5.2(ii) above as
applicable;

6

5.2.2

the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any Subsidiary shall purchase and cancel sufficient Bonds to
cure such deficiency; and/or

5.2.3

such deficiency shall be remedied by a combination of Conditions 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 above.

5.3

To the extent that following any such charging and/or payment as is referred to in Condition 5.2 the
Asset Cover Ratio exceeds 1.67:1 and/or the Interest Cover Ratio exceeds 1.25:1, such excess may (if
the Issuer so requests but, in the case of excess Net Annual Income, only if no Event of Default has
occurred which is then continuing) be taken into account for the purposes of any subsequent
substitution under Condition 6 made prior to the date of the first, or as the case may be, the next Ratio
Testing Date.

5.4

Any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises withdrawn as aforesaid shall, so far as the Charging
Company concerned shall be or remain interested therein and remain a Charging Company after such
withdrawal be and be deemed to remain part of the Mortgaged Premises and be subject to the floating
charges created by or pursuant to the Bonds and the Trust Deed.

Substitution of Specifically Mortgaged Premises
6.1

Subject as hereinafter mentioned, a Charging Company (with the consent of the Guarantor) may at any
time and from time to time withdraw all or any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises charged by
it which shall be approved for withdrawal by the Trustee upon any Charging Company (with the
consent of the Guarantor) charging additional Eligible Property in favour of the Trustee and to its
satisfaction by way of first legal mortgage so as to become part of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises belonging to it and not already forming part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or
paying to or to the order of the Trustee a sum of money to be held as part of the Security subject to a
fixed charge in accordance with the Trust Deed, or partly in one way and partly in the other,
PROVIDED THAT the Issuer delivers a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer to the Trustee
certifying that:
6.1.1

the Value (determined in accordance with Condition 4.3.1(iii)) of the Eligible Property and/or
the amount of money proposed to be substituted (the "Substituted Property") is not less than
the Value (determined in accordance with Condition 4.3.1(iii)) of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn; and

6.1.2

either (i) the Interest Cover Ratio immediately after such substitution will not be less than
1.25:1 or (ii) the Net Annual Income attributable to the Substituted Property immediately after
such substitution will not be less than the Net Annual Income attributable at the time of such
substitution to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn.

6.2

Any excess in the Value of and/or the Net Annual Income attributable to the Substituted Property over
the Value of and/or the Net Annual Income attributable to the part or parts of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises being withdrawn may (if the Issuer so requests but, in the case of excess Net
Annual Income, only if no Event of Default has occurred which is then continuing) be taken into
account on any subsequent substitution made prior to the date of the first or, as the case may be, the
next Ratio Testing Date.

6.3

The Trustee upon receiving notice in writing from the Issuer of the proposed withdrawal and upon
receiving also:
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6.3.1

such Valuations and certificates (including certificates of title or as to the Net Annual Income)
as it may require in relation to the Value of any Property or the value of any cash proposed to be
substituted or withdrawn; and

6.3.2

a duly executed deed or deeds containing the requisite charge(s) over the Substituted Property
and any ancillary documents required by it in connection therewith and payment of any costs or
expenses incurred in connection with such substitution,

shall release and surrender to the Charging Company concerned or as it may direct or concur in a
conveyance or transfer by such Charging Company of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or part
thereof proposed to be withdrawn so that the same shall thenceforth no longer form part of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises.
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6.4

Any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises withdrawn as aforesaid shall, so far as the Charging
Company concerned shall be or remain interested therein and remain a Charging Company after such
withdrawal, be and be deemed to remain part of the Mortgaged Premises and be subject to the floating
charges created by or pursuant to the Bonds and the Trust Deed.

6.5

All rights of substitution under this Condition shall cease upon the Security becoming enforceable and
the Trustee determining or becoming bound to enforce the same.

Interest
The Bonds bear interest from and including the Issue Date at the rate of 2.487 per cent. per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrear on 30 September and 31 March in each year (each an “Interest Payment Date”),
except that the first payment of interest, to be made on 31 March 2017, will be in respect of the period from
and including 7 October 2016 to but excluding 31 March 2017.
The amount of interest payable per Bond in respect of any Interest Period shall be equal to (i) (where such
Interest Period ends either on 30 September or 31 March (other than 31 March 2017)), the product of 2.487
per cent. and the nominal amount of such Bond divided by two and (ii) (in respect of any Interest Period
which ends on a date other than 30 September or 31 March and the Interest Period which ends on 31 March
2017), the product of 2.487 per cent., the Day Count Fraction and the nominal amount of such Bond, in each
case rounded down to the nearest £0.01.
Each Bond will cease to bear interest from (and including) the due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear
interest at such rate (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of: (a) the day on which all
sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant holder, and (b)
the day seven days after the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all
sums due in respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the
subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).
Where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period which is shorter than an Interest Period (as defined
below), the day-count fraction (the “Day Count Fraction”) used will be the actual number of days in the
relevant period, from and including the date from which interest begins to accrue to but excluding the date on
which it falls due, divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in the Interest Period in which the
relevant period falls (including the first such day but excluding the last) and (2) the number of Interest Periods
normally ending in any year.
In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding the
first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date
and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an “Interest Period”.
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8

Redemption and Purchase
8.1

Final redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at their nominal amount on the Maturity Date. The Bonds may not be redeemed at the option
of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 8.

8.2

Redemption for taxation reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole,
but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 45 days’ irrevocable notice to the
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 19 (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their nominal
amount (together with interest accrued to but excluding the date fixed for redemption) if (i) the Issuer
satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that it (or, if the Guarantee were
called, the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to
in Condition 10 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the United
Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any
change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or
amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by
the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it,
PROVIDED THAT no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the
earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to pay such
additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds (or the Guarantee, as the case may be) then
due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 8.2, the Issuer shall
deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case
may be) stating that the obligation referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the
Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it and (ii) an opinion of
independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the
case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts and the Trustee shall be
entitled to accept such certificate and legal opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the
conditions precedent set out in (i) and (ii) above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on
the Bondholders and the Couponholders.

8.3

Redemption at the option of the Issuer: The Issuer may at any time, having given not less than 30
nor more than 45 days’ irrevocable notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 19 (which
notice shall specify the date fixed for redemption (the “Optional Redemption Date”)) redeem all (but
not some only) of the Bonds for the time being outstanding at any time at the Redemption Price (as
defined below) together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date.
The “Redemption Price” shall be the higher of: (i) the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds; and
(ii) the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds multiplied by the price (expressed as a percentage in
relation to the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds) (as reported in writing to the Issuer and the
Trustee by an independent financial adviser appointed at its own expense by the Issuer and approved in
writing by the Trustee) at which the Gross Redemption Yield (if the Bonds were to remain outstanding
to their scheduled maturity) on the Bonds on the Calculation Date is equal to the Gross Redemption
Yield at 11.00 a.m. (London time) on the Calculation Date of the 4.750 per cent. United Kingdom
Government Treasury Stock due December 2030 (or, where such financial adviser advises the Issuer
and the Trustee that for reasons of illiquidity or otherwise, such stock is not appropriate for such
purpose, such other government stock as such independent financial adviser may recommend for such
purposes). For such purposes, “Calculation Date” means the date which is the second London
Business Day prior to the Optional Redemption Date.
Any notice given pursuant to this Condition 8.3 shall be irrevocable and shall specify the Optional
Redemption Date. Upon the expiry of any such notice, the Issuer (failing whom, the Guarantor) shall
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be bound to redeem the Bonds at the applicable Redemption Price on the Optional Redemption Date
together with accrued interest as aforesaid unless previously redeemed or purchased. The Trustee shall
rely absolutely and without further enquiry or liability on the advice of any financial adviser appointed
as provided in this Condition 8.3 and shall not be liable to any person for doing so.
8.4

Redemption at the option of the Bondholder: If a Change of Control Put Event (as defined below)
occurs, the holder of each Bond will have the option (a “Change of Control Put Option”) (unless
prior to the giving of the relevant Change of Control Put Event Notice (as defined below) the Issuer
has given notice of redemption under Condition 8.2 or 8.3 above) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at
the Issuer’s option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) that Bond on the date (the “Change of
Control Put Date”) which is seven calendar days after the expiration of the Change of Control Put
Period (as defined below) PROVIDED THAT such day is a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on
which banks are generally open for business in London or, if not, the next such day, at its nominal
amount together with (or, where purchased, together with an amount equal to) interest (if any) accrued
to (but excluding) the Change of Control Put Date.
Promptly upon, and in any event within 14 days after, the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of
Control Put Event has occurred the Issuer shall, and at any time upon the Trustee becoming similarly
so aware the Trustee may, and if so requested by the holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of
the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, shall,
(subject in each case to the Trustee being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its
satisfaction) give notice (a “Change of Control Put Event Notice”) to the Bondholders in accordance
with Condition 19 specifying the nature of the Change of Control Put Event and the procedure for
exercising the Change of Control Put Option.
To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of the Bond must deposit such Bond with
any Paying Agent at its specified office at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent
falling within the period (the “Change of Control Put Period”) of 30 days after a Change of Control
Put Event Notice is given, accompanied by a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form
(for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Change of
Control Put Notice”).
The Bond should be delivered together with all Coupons appertaining thereto maturing after the
Change of Control Put Date, failing which the Paying Agent will require payment from or on behalf of
the relevant Bondholder of an amount equal to the face value of any such missing Coupon. Any
amount so paid will be reimbursed by the Paying Agent to the Bondholder against presentation and
surrender of the relevant missing Coupon (or any replacement therefor issued pursuant to Condition
13) at any time after such payment but before the expiry of 10 years from the date on which such
Coupon would have become due. The Paying Agent to which such Bond and Change of Control Put
Notice are delivered will issue to the Bondholder concerned a non-transferable receipt in respect of the
Bond so delivered.
Payment in respect of any Bond so delivered will be made, if the holder duly specified a bank account
(in Sterling) in the Change of Control Put Notice to which payment is to be made, on the Change of
Control Put Date by transfer to that bank account and, in every other case, on or after the Change of
Control Put Date against presentation and surrender or (as the case may be) endorsement of the nontransferable receipt in respect of such Bond mentioned in the immediately preceding paragraph of this
Condition 8.4 at the specified office of any Paying Agent. A Change of Control Put Notice, once given,
shall be irrevocable. For the purposes of these Conditions, receipts issued pursuant to this Condition
8.4 shall be treated as if they were Bonds.
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No Bond so deposited and option so exercised may be withdrawn without the prior consent of the
Issuer. The Issuer shall redeem or purchase (or procure the purchase of) the relevant Bonds on the
Change of Control Put Date unless previously redeemed (or purchased and cancelled).
If 80 per cent. or more in nominal amount of the Bonds originally issued have been redeemed or
purchased pursuant to this Condition 8.4, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 45
days’ notice to the Bondholders (such notice being given within 30 days after the Change of Control
Put Date), redeem or purchase (or procure the purchase of), at its option, all but not some only of the
remaining outstanding Bonds at their nominal amount, together with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the date fixed for such redemption or purchase.
The Trustee is under no obligation or responsibility to ascertain or monitor whether a Change of
Control Put Event or any event which could lead to the occurrence of or could constitute a Change of
Control Put Event has occurred or will occur, and until it shall have actual knowledge or express notice
pursuant to the Trust Deed to the contrary, the Trustee may assume without liability that no Change of
Control Put Event or other such event has occurred.
For the purpose of this Condition 8.4:
A “Change of Control Put Event” shall occur if any person or any persons (other than, in the case of
the Issuer, the Guarantor) acting in concert (as defined in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers), or
any subsidiary of or person(s) acting on behalf of such person(s), shall become interested (within the
meaning of Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006) directly or indirectly in:
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(i)

more than 50 per cent. of the issued or allotted ordinary share capital of the Issuer or the
Guarantor; or

(ii)

shares in the capital of the Issuer or the Guarantor carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting
rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the Issuer or the Guarantor.

8.5

Notice of redemption: All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under this
Condition 8 shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition 8.

8.6

Purchase: Each of the Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging Company and their respective
Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price (provided
that, if they should be cancelled under Condition 8.7 below, they are purchased together with all
unmatured Coupons relating to them). The Bonds so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the
Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging Company or any such Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder
to vote at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes
of calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes of these Conditions.

8.7

Cancellation: All Bonds which are purchased by the Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging
Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries may be held and/or subsequently resold or
surrendered to the Principal Paying Agent for cancellation. Any Bonds which are redeemed or
otherwise surrendered to the Principal Paying Agent for cancellation shall forthwith be cancelled
together with all unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith, and accordingly
cannot be held, reissued or sold.

Payments
9.1

Method of Payment: Payments of principal and interest will be made against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of a partial payment, endorsement) of Bonds or the appropriate Coupons (as
the case may be) at the specified office of any Paying Agent by sterling cheque drawn on, or by
transfer to a sterling account maintained by the payee with, a bank in the United Kingdom. Payments
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of interest due in respect of any Bond other than on presentation and surrender of matured Coupons
shall be made only against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of the
relevant Bond.
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9.2

Payments subject to Laws: Save as provided in Condition 10, payments will be subject in all cases to
any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment or other laws and
regulations to which the Issuer or the Guarantor or their respective agents agree to be subject and
neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor will be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or
levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements. No commission or expenses shall be
charged to the Bondholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

9.3

Surrender of unmatured Coupons: Each Bond should be presented for redemption together with all
unmatured Coupons relating to it, failing which the amount of any such missing unmatured Coupon
(or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing
unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total nominal amount due) will be
deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the
manner mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon not later than 10 years after
the Relevant Date for the relevant payment of principal.

9.4

Payments on business days: A Bond or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is
a business day in the place of presentation (and, in the case of payment by transfer to a sterling
account, a London Business Day). No further interest or other payment will be made as a consequence
of the day on which the relevant Bond or Coupon may be presented for payment under this Condition
9 falling after the due date.

9.5

Paying Agents: The initial Paying Agent(s) and their initial specified offices are listed below. The
Issuer and the Guarantor reserve the right at any time with the approval in writing of the Trustee to
vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and appoint additional or other Paying Agents,
PROVIDED THAT they will maintain a (i) Principal Paying Agent and (ii) a Paying Agent having a
specified office in London and/or any other major European city approved by the Trustee. Notice of
any change in the Paying Agents or their specified offices will promptly be given to the Bondholders in
accordance with Condition 19.

Taxation
10.1

Gross up: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds and the Coupons by or on
behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or
deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of a Tax
Jurisdiction (as defined below), unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments,
or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor, shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Bondholders and the
Couponholders after such withholding or deduction of such amounts as would have been received by
them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall
be payable in respect of any Bond or Coupon presented for payment:
10.1.1 by or on behalf of a holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental

charges in respect of such Bond or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with the
Tax Jurisdiction by which such taxes, duties, assessments or charges have been imposed, levied,
collected, withheld or assessed other than the mere holding of the Bond or Coupon; or
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10.1.2 more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of such Bond or

Coupon would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting such Bond or
Coupon for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; or
10.1.3 by or on behalf of a Bondholder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or

deduction by complying with any statutory requirement or by making a declaration of nonresidence or any other similar claim for exemption, but fails to do so.
Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions, any amounts to be paid on the Bonds and the
Coupons by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor will be paid net of any deduction or
withholding imposed or required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections
1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof) or an
intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the
implementation thereof (or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices implementing such an
intergovernmental agreement) (any such withholding or deduction, a “FATCA Withholding”). Neither
the Issuer nor any other person will be required to pay any additional amounts in respect of FATCA
Withholding.
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10.2

Tax Jurisdiction: As used in this Condition 10, “Tax Jurisdiction” means the United Kingdom and
any political subdivision and any authority therein or thereof having the power to tax, and/or any other
jurisdiction (and in each case any political subdivision and any authority therein or thereof having the
power to tax) in which the Issuer and/or the Guarantor is incorporated, organised, or otherwise resident
for tax purposes.

10.3

Additional Amounts: Any reference in these Conditions to principal and/or interest shall be deemed
to include any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 10 or any undertaking
given in addition to or substitution for it under the Trust Deed.

Events of Default
11.1

If any of the following events occurs (each an “Event of Default”) and is continuing the Trustee at its
discretion may, and if so requested by holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds
then outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall
(in each case subject to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), give
notice (an “Acceleration Notice”) to the Issuer that the Bonds are, and they shall immediately
become, due and payable at the Redemption Price together (if applicable) with accrued interest:
11.1.1 Non-payment: if any default is made in the payment of any principal of or interest on any of

the Bonds and such default continues for a period of three business days in respect of principal
or 14 business days in respect of interest;
11.1.2 Winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor: if an order shall be made or an effective

resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor;
11.1.3 Winding-up of any Charging Subsidiary: if an order shall be made or an effective resolution

passed for the winding-up of any Charging Subsidiary (other than the Issuer) except for the
purposes of and followed by a reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which shall first
have been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Bondholders;
11.1.4 Insolvency – administration etc.: if proceedings shall be taken for the making of an

administration order or the appointment of an administrator or administrative receiver of the
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undertaking or assets of the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging Subsidiary or any
part thereof or if an administrator is appointed or a voluntary arrangement under Section 1 of
the Insolvency Act 1986 shall be proposed in respect of the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other
Charging Subsidiary;
11.1.5 Insolvency – encumbrancer: if an encumbrancer shall take possession or a receiver shall be

appointed of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or any part thereof;
11.1.6 Enforcement Proceedings: if a distress, execution, diligence (other than a diligence on the

dependence of an action or to found jurisdiction) or other process shall be placed, levied or
enforced upon or sued out against the undertaking or assets of the Issuer or the Guarantor or
any other Charging Subsidiary or any part thereof and shall not be removed, paid out or
discharged within 14 days PROVIDED THAT such distress, execution, diligence or other
process (alone or when aggregated with others) relates to a principal sum exceeding
£5,000,000;
11.1.7 Cessation of Business: if the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging Subsidiary shall

cease or threaten to cease to carry on its business or substantially the whole of its business
except for the purposes of and followed by a reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of
which shall first have been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary
Resolution of the Bondholders;
11.1.8 Insolvency: if the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging Subsidiary shall stop or

threaten to stop payment or shall be deemed unable to pay its debts within the meaning of
Section 123(1)(e) of the Insolvency Act 1986;
11.1.9 Default: if default shall be made by the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging

Subsidiary in the performance or observance of any covenant, condition or provision (other
than the covenants for payment of the principal amount of the Bonds or interest thereon)
contained in the Bonds or the Trust Deed and on its part to be performed or observed and
(except where such default is incapable of remedy when no such notice shall be required) such
company shall fail to remedy such default within 14 days from receipt of notice in writing from
the Trustee requiring it to do so;
11.1.10 Security Enforced: if the security constituted by any other encumbrance upon the whole or any

material part of the undertaking or assets of the Issuer, Guarantor or of any other Charging
Subsidiary for an aggregate principal sum exceeding £5,000,000 shall become enforceable and
steps are taken to enforce the same;
11.1.11 Cross-Acceleration: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer, the Guarantor or

any Charging Company for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes or is declared
due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of
default or the like (howsoever described), or (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or,
as the case may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any Charging Company fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any
present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised
(other than where such guarantee or indemnity is in respect of moneys borrowed or raised by
another Charging Company) PROVIDED THAT the aggregate amount of the relevant
indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which the events mentioned above in
this Condition 11.1.11 have occurred equals or exceeds £5,000,000 or its equivalent;
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11.1.12 Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or

effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order,
recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable
the Issuer, the Guarantor and any other Charging Company lawfully to enter into, exercise their
respective rights and perform and comply with their respective obligations under the Bonds and
the Transaction Documents, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and
enforceable and (iii) to make the Bonds and the Transaction Documents admissible in evidence
in the courts of England and Wales is not taken, fulfilled or done;
11.1.13 Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Charging

Company to perform or comply with any one or more of its respective obligations under any of
the Bonds or the Transaction Documents;
11.1.14 Security: the Security is not in full force and effect or the Trust Deed does not create the

Security which it is expressed to create with the ranking and priority that it is expressed to have;
11.1.15 Guarantee: the Guarantee is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and

effect;
11.1.16 Information: any representation or statement contained in these Conditions and/or the Trust

Deed or in any report or certificate given by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Charging
Company shall prove to have been untrue when made in any material respect; or
11.1.17 Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an

analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs of this
Condition 11,
PROVIDED THAT in the case of Conditions 11.1.4, 11.1.5, 11.1.7 to 11.1.9, 11.1.13 and 11.1.16 the
Trustee shall have certified that in its opinion such event is materially prejudicial to the interests of
Bondholders.
11.2

12

The Security constituted by the Trust Deed shall immediately become enforceable upon the delivery of
an Acceleration Notice by the Trustee.

Prescription
Claims in respect of principal and interest will become void unless presentation for payment is made as
required by Condition 9 within a period of 10 years in the case of principal and five years in the case of
interest from the appropriate Relevant Date.
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Replacement of Bonds and Coupons
If any Bond or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified
office of the Paying Agent in London subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant
authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such
replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer and the
Guarantor may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice).
Mutilated or defaced Bonds or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.
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Meetings of Bondholders, Modification and Waiver
14.1

Meetings of Bondholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of
Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary
Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of any Transaction
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Document. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee or requisitioned
by Bondholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Bonds for the time being
outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be
one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Bonds for the
time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing
Bondholders whatever the nominal amount of the Bonds held or represented. Any Extraordinary
Resolution duly passed shall be binding on all Bondholders (whether or not they were present at the
meeting at which such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.
The Trust Deed provides that (i) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders or (ii) for
so long as the Bonds are in the form of a Global Bond held on behalf of one or more of Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg or another clearing system, electronic consents communicated through the
electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system, of not less than 90 per cent. in
nominal amount of the Bonds outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an
Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Bondholders duly convened and held. Such a
resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each
signed by or on behalf of one or more Bondholders.
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14.2

Modification and Waiver: The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Bondholders or
Couponholders, to (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed (including these
Conditions) that is in the opinion of the Trustee of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to
correct a manifest error, and (ii) any other modification, and any waiver or authorisation of any breach
or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed (including these Conditions) that is in
the opinion of the Trustee not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. Any such
modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and the Couponholders and,
if the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be notified to the Bondholders as soon as practicable
in accordance with Condition 19.

14.3

Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited
to those referred to in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Bondholders
as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Bondholders or
Couponholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Bondholder or
Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or the Guarantor any indemnification or payment in
respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders or Couponholders.

Enforcement
15.1

At any time after the delivery of an Acceleration Notice, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without
further notice:
15.1.1 institute such proceedings or take such steps, or actions against the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or

any Charging Company as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Transaction Documents,
the Bonds and the Coupons; and
15.1.2 take such steps, actions and proceeding as it may see fit to enforce the Security,

but the Trustee shall not be bound to take any such steps actions and proceedings unless (a) it shall
have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by Bondholders
holding at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds outstanding and (b) it shall have been
indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.
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15.2

No Bondholder or Couponholder may proceed directly against the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other
Charging Company unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a
reasonable time and such failure is continuing.

15.3

Only the Trustee may enforce the Security, in accordance with and subject to the terms of the Trust
Deed.

Trustee’s power to enter into possession
16.1

At any time after the Security shall have become enforceable and the Trustee shall have determined or
become bound to enforce the same, the Trustee may in its discretion (without any such request as next
hereinafter mentioned) and shall (subject to the provisions of Clause 19 of the Trust Deed) upon the
request:
16.1.1 of the Bondholders by Extraordinary Resolution; or
16.1.2 in writing of the holder or holders of not less than one-fifth part in nominal amount of the

Bonds outstanding
but in either case without any consent of or demand upon or notice to the Issuer, the Guarantor or any
Charging Subsidiary and without being responsible for any loss or damage which may arise or be
occasioned thereby:(a)

enter upon or take possession of the Charged Assets or any part thereof; and/or

(b)

sell, call in, collect, convert into money or otherwise deal with the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or any part thereof in such manner, upon such terms and for such consideration as the
Trustee shall think fit.

16.2

All the powers, incidents and provisions contained or referred to in Section 104 of the Law of Property
Act 1925 shall apply and have effect on the footing that the Conditions together with the Trust Deed
constitute a mortgage within the meaning of that Act and that the Trustee is a mortgagee exercising the
powers of sale conferred upon mortgagees by that Act with all such powers as to the manner in which
such sale, calling in, collection or conversion shall be made as are contained in Section 101 of the said
Act concerning the powers incident to the estate and interest of mortgagees as if the same were fully
set out and incorporated in the Conditions and the Trust Deed.

16.3

The Trustee shall also have power after the Security shall have become enforceable and the Trustee
shall have determined or become bound to enforce the same (without being responsible for any loss or
damage which may arise or be occasioned thereby):(i)

to buy in, rescind or vary any contract for the sale of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or
any part thereof;

(ii)

to resell the same or any part thereof;

(iii)

to compromise and effect compositions;

(iv)

to do all or any of the things mentioned in Clause 10 of the Trust Deed;

(v)

to form and promote or take part in the formation and promotion of any company or companies
constituted or to be constituted for the purpose of purchasing or otherwise acquiring the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises or any part thereof; and

(vi)

for the purposes mentioned in this Condition or any of them to execute and do all such
documents, acts and things as the Trustee shall think fit.
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Indemnification of the Trustee
17.1

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, the Guarantor,
any other Charging Company and any entity related to the Issuer, the Guarantor or the relevant
Charging Company without accounting for any profit.

17.2

The Trustee may rely without liability on a report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any
accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it
and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter
relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap,
methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report,
confirmation or certificate or advice and such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be
binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bondholders and the Couponholders.

Further Issues
The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders create and issue
further securities (any such issue, a “Further Issue”) either having the same terms and conditions as the
Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) and secured by the
Charged Assets, and so that such Further Issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the
outstanding securities of any series (including the Bonds), or otherwise upon such terms as the Issuer may
determine at the time of their issue PROVIDED THAT (i) the Valuation has been carried out and the report
has been effected, as required by Condition 4.3.1(ii), (ii) no Further Issues shall take place unless the Issuer
delivers to the Trustee a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer confirming that immediately thereafter
each of the Asset Cover Ratio and the Interest Cover Ratio, would not be less than as required in accordance
with Condition 4.2 and (iii) no Further Issue shall be or become a charge upon the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises unless and until the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Charging Subsidiaries concerned (if any) shall
have executed and delivered to the Trustee a Supplemental Trust Deed constituting and securing such Further
Issue. References in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other
securities issued pursuant to this Condition and forming a single series with the Bonds.
Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the
Bonds) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with
the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains
provisions for convening a single meeting of the Bondholders and the holders of securities of other series
where the Trustee so decides.
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Notices
Notices to Bondholders will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in
London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if the Trustee is satisfied that such publication shall
not be practicable, in an English language newspaper of general circulation in the United Kingdom. Any such
notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or
on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made. Couponholders will be deemed for all
purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Bondholders in accordance with this
Condition 19.
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Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts (Rights of
Third Parties) Act 1999.

21

Governing Law
The Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.
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Definitions
“Accounting Year End” means 30 September in each calendar year, or such other date as at which the Issuer,
the Guarantor or any Charging Company, as the case may be, prepare their audited Financial Statements.
“Accounting Half-Year End” means 31 March in each calendar year, or such other date as at which the
Issuer, the Guarantor or any Charging Company, as the case may be, prepare their unaudited semi-annual
Financial Statements.
“Asset Cover Ratio” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“Auditors” means the auditors for the time being of the Issuer and the Guarantor, or in the case of joint
auditors, any one of them or any successor auditors to the Issuer and the Guarantor. In the event of their being
unable or unwilling to carry out any action requested of them pursuant to the Conditions and/or the Trust
Deed, such other firm of chartered accountants as the Trustee may, after consultation with the Issuer or the
Guarantor, as applicable, in writing nominate or approve for the purpose.
“Central London” means the following postcodes: W1, WC1 and WC2.
“Charged Assets” means the Security, including but not limited to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, and
any cash amount subject to Security pursuant to Condition 5 or Condition 6, as applicable, from time to time
mortgaged, charged or assigned (or expressed to be mortgaged, charged or assigned) pursuant to the Trust
Deed.
“Charging Companies” means the Issuer (for so long as it has subsisting a fixed charge and/or mortgage in
favour of the Trustee to secure the Bonds) and the Charging Subsidiaries and “Charging Company” means
any one of them.
“Charging Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor which pursuant to these presents
for the time being has subsisting a fixed charge and/or mortgage in favour of the Trustee to secure the Bonds
or has paid a sum of money to the Trustee to be held as part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises.
“Eligible Property” means
(a)

the properties identified in Condition 3.2 which are expressed by the Trust Deed to be secured on the
Issue Date;

(b)

any other Property located in Central London (other than leasehold property the term of which expires
or may be determined (other than by forfeiture) by the lessor less than 50 years after the Maturity Date
or the lease of which contains provisions which in the opinion of the Trustee make it unsuitable as
security for the Bonds) which (i) in the opinion of the Valuers is of a type the charging of which as part
of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises would not prejudice the quality of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises taken as a whole at the time of such charging and (ii) in respect of which a certificate of title
reasonably acceptable to the Trustee has been produced;

(c)

money or Short Gilts; and/or
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(d)

any other Property or assets situated in Central London approved in writing by the Trustee as Security,

which, for the avoidance for doubt, may include any additional interest in any Property for the time being
comprised in the Specifically Mortgaged Premises.
“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given to it in the Trust Deed.
“Financial Statements” means the Issuer and the Guarantor’s audited annual unconsolidated and
consolidated, respectively, financial statements or the unaudited half-year consolidated financial statements of
the Guarantor, as the case may be, including the relevant accounting policies and notes to the accounts and in
each case prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) or such other
accounting standards as may be applied by an issuer of securities listed on the Regulated Market of the
London Stock Exchange.
“Further Issue” has the meaning given to it in Condition 18.
“Group” means the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
“Gross Redemption Yield” means a yield calculated in accordance with generally accepted market practice
at the time of calculation, as advised to the Issuer (with a copy of such advice provided to the Trustee to make
available to the Bondholders upon reasonable request) by an independent financial adviser.
“Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises” means the following Properties all of which comprise the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises on the Issue Date:
Properties (all of which comprise the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises on the Issue Date)
21-28 (all numbers) 28A, 29 & 30 Carnaby Street

Title Number

NGL168528

2-12 (even) Ganton Street
1-10, 12, 12A, 13-15 Newburgh Street, (includes 3 & 4 Marlborough
Court and 5 & 6 Lowndes Court)
16 Newburgh Street (also known as The White Horse Public House)
17 Newburgh Street
1-2 Marlborough Court
26-32 (even) Foubert's Place
33-37 Marshall Street
3 Lowndes Court
11 Newburgh Street

241141

9 Carnaby Street / 71 Broadwick Street

NGL749438

8 Carnaby Street

LN93022

5-7 Carnaby Street

NGL68050

31 Beak Street & 1-3 & 4 Carnaby Street

277057

33 Beak Street

286398

35 Beak Street

296126
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37 Beak Street

128144

41, 43 & 45 Beak Street

NGL703723

47 Beak Street

239226

Marshall House, 47-50- & 52-53 Marshall Street

NGL193982

61-69 Broadwick Street

NGL583951

39 Beak Street

308106

Flat 15, Marshall House, Marshall Street

NGL628686

31 Kingly Street

81940

5 & 7 Foubert's Place

219156

9 & 11 Foubert's Place

160749

13 & 15 Foubert's Place

223547 and 220728

17 Foubert's Place

64853

19 & 21 Foubert's Place

NGL791478

27-28 Great Marlborough Street and 1 Little Marlborough Street

NGL791469

27 Great Marlborough Street, 19-21 Foubert's Place and 9-14 Little
Marlborough Street and 32 Kingly Street

250432

57 Broadwick Street & Stirling Court

NGL80165

Parts of basement, ground and first floors, 10-16 Carnaby Street and
74-76 Broadwick Street

NGL855732

20 Beak Street and 6 Upper John Street

182292

1 & 2 Marshall Street

NGL784922

46 Broadwick Street

166204

41 Lexington Street

NGL446762

48 Lexington Street

NGL282309

49 Lexington Street

NGL455191

1-2 Silver Place

NGL542541

46-48 Beak Street

NGL572471

“Interest Cover Ratio” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“London Business Day” means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for
business in London.
“Maturity Date” means 30 September 2031.
“Mortgaged Premises” means the undertakings and all the property, rights and assets of the Charging
Companies for the time being charged by way of floating charge in accordance with Condition 3.3 to the
extent that the same shall not have been released pursuant to any provision under these Conditions.
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“Net Annual Income” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“Permitted Security” means mortgages, charges or other encumbrances either by way of first fixed charges
or otherwise on Property and assets of any Charging Companies not forming part of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises or by way of floating charges ranking in point of security pari passu with any floating
charge (but not any fixed charge) securing the Secured Liabilities (and for the avoidance of doubt fixed or
floating charges ranking behind any charge securing the Secured Liabilities including fixed charges on any
Property not forming part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises) whether as security for indebtedness or
other liabilities of the Issuer or a Charging Company or otherwise.
“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association,
joint stock company, trust, government, or any agency or subdivision thereof or any other entity.
“Property” means freehold, leasehold, heritable or other immovable property owned by a Charging
Company.
“Ratio Testing Date” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“Receiver” means a receiver and manager or other receiver appointed under the Trust Deed by the Trustee in
respect of all or part of any Charged Assets and shall, if allowed by law, include an administrative receiver.
“Relevant Date” means whichever is the later of (i) the date on which such payment first becomes due and
(ii) if the full amount payable has not been received in London by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee
on or prior to such due date, the date on which, the full amount having been so received, notice to that effect
shall have been given to the Bondholders.
“Reporting Period” means the period ending three months after the end of the most recent Accounting Year
End or Accounting Half-Year End, as applicable, of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Charging Company, as
the case may be.
“Security” means any Security Interest created, evidenced or conferred by or under the Trust Deed or any
Supplemental Trust Deed.
“Secured Creditors” means each of (a) the Bondholders, (b) the Couponholders and (c) the Trustee.
“Security Interest” means any mortgage, lien, charge, assignment, hypothecation or security interest or any
other arrangement having a similar effect under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction.
“Secured Liabilities” means all present and future moneys, debts and liabilities due, owing or incurred by the
Issuer and/or indirectly by any other Charging Company to the Secured Creditors under or in connection with
any Transaction Document (in each case, whether alone or jointly, or jointly and severally, with any other
person, whether actually or contingently and whether as principal, guarantor, surety or otherwise).
“Short Gilts” means United Kingdom Government stocks listed on the London Stock Exchange with no
more than five years to final redemption from the date of being charged.
“Specifically Mortgaged Premises” means the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises which are expressed
by the Trust Deed to be secured on the Issue Date or such of them as shall for the time being remain subject to
the Security, and all other Property and moneys (and investments representing the same) which for the time
being shall or ought, pursuant to these Conditions, the Trust Deed or any Supplemental Trust Deed, to be
mortgaged or charged in favour of or held by the Trustee by way of specific security to secure the Bonds to
the extent that the same shall not have been released pursuant to any provision of the Conditions, Trust Deed
or any Supplemental Trust Deed.
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“Subsidiary” means a subsidiary or a subsidiary undertaking within the respective meanings of section 1159
and 1162 of the Companies Act 2006.
“Supplemental Trust Deed” means any deed supplemental to the Trust Deed pursuant to which Security
Interests are granted by the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any other Charging Company in favour of the Trustee
by way of security for the Secured Liabilities.
“Transaction Documents” means the Bonds, the Coupons, the Trust Deed and the Paying Agency
Agreement.
“Valuation” means:
(a)

in relation to Property, (i) in the case of a Valuation as at the Accounting Year End, a valuation made
pursuant to the Trust Deed by the Valuers, and (ii) in the case of a Valuation as at the Accounting HalfYear End or at any other date on which a Valuation is required, a valuation made pursuant to the Trust
Deed by the Issuer, in each case on the basis used by the Issuer in preparing its accounts from time to
time;

(b)

in relation to money, a determination by the Trustee of the amount thereof;

(c)

in relation to Short Gilts, the price thereof (net of accrued interest) based on the mean of the bid and
offered prices thereof as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List on the business
day preceding the date on which the relevant Valuation is made or the par value of such gilts
(whichever is the lesser); and

(d)

in relation to other investments, a valuation thereof as agreed between the Issuer, the Guarantor and
any relevant Charging Company and the Trustee or, in the absence of such agreement, as determined
by an expert appointed by the Issuer and approved by the Trustee.

“Value” means:
(a)

in relation to Property, the value ascribed thereto by a Valuation as at a Ratio Testing Date,
PROVIDED THAT:
(i) the Trustee may, if the Issuer so requests, instead of requiring a Valuation, treat the value of a
Property as being (i) its acquisition price, (ii) in the case of Property which is the subject of a
contract for sale on an arm’s length basis, its agreed sale price or (iii) its value as certified by any
two directors of the Charging Company concerned; and
(ii) at the discretion of the Trustee there may, for the purpose of determining value, be added to any
value ascribed thereto by a Valuation or, if paragraph (a) above applies, to the acquisition price,
an amount equal to the cost (as reported to the Issuer and the Trustee by the Auditors, or by the
Issuer to the Trustee, as applicable) of additions or improvements of a capital nature made to such
Property since the date as at which such Valuation was made or since such acquisition (as the
case may be) to the extent that such cost is not included in such Valuation or acquisition price;

(b)

in relation to any Specifically Mortgaged Premises other than Property, the value ascribed thereto by
the most recent Valuation.

“Valuers” means:
(a)

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, trading as Cushman & Wakefield, Chartered Surveyors; or

(b)

such other firm or firms of independent professional valuers which is or are members of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors as may from time to time be appointed at its own expense by the
Issuer with the written approval of the Trustee.
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Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds while in Global Form
The Trust Deed and the Global Bond contain provisions which apply to the Bonds while they are in global
form, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Bonds set out in this Prospectus.
The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:
1

Exchange
The Global Bond is exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for the definitive
Bonds described below only if the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing system and such clearing
system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so. Thereupon, the
holder may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent of its intention to exchange the Global Bond for
definitive Bonds on or after the Exchange Date specified in the notice.
On or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) the holder of the Global Bond may surrender the Global
Bond to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. In exchange for the Global Bond the Issuer shall
deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated
definitive Bonds (having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been paid
on the Global Bond), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange
requirements and in or substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 to the Trust Deed.
“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 40 days after that on which the notice requiring exchange
is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Principal
Paying Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant clearing system is located.

2

Payments
Payments of principal, premium and interest in respect of Bonds represented by the Global Bond will be made
against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Bonds,
surrender of the Global Bond to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. A record of each payment so
made will be endorsed in the appropriate schedule to the Global Bond, which endorsement will be prima facie
evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Bonds. For the purpose of any payments made in
respect of a Global Bond, Condition 9.4 (Payments on business days) shall not apply, and all such payments
shall be made on a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in
London.

3

Notices
So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond and the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing
system approved by the Trustee, notices to Bondholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to
that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as
required by the Conditions.

4

Prescription
Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal and interest on the Bonds while the Bonds are represented by
the Global Bond will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case
of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in
Condition 22 (Definitions)).
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5

Meetings
The holder of the Global Bond shall (unless the Global Bond represents only one Bond) be treated as being
two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and, at any such
meeting, as having one vote in respect of each £1 in nominal amount of Bonds.

6

Purchase and Cancellation
Cancellation of any Bond required by the Conditions to be cancelled following its purchase will be effected
by reduction in the principal amount of the Global Bond.

7

Trustee’s Powers
In considering the interests of Bondholders while the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing system, the
Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to the
identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to the Global Bond and
may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the holder of the Global Bond.

8

Put Option
If a change of Control Put Event (as defined in the Conditions) occurs, the Bondholders’ put option in
Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of the Bondholder) may be exercised by the holder of the Global
Bond giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent of the principal amount of Bonds in respect of which the
option is exercised and presenting the Global Bond for endorsement of exercise within the time limits
specified in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of the Bondholder).

9

Electronic Consent and Written Resolution
While any Global Bond is held on behalf of a relevant Clearing System, then:
(a)

approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee (as the case may be)
given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of
the relevant Clearing System(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on
behalf of the holders of not less than 90 per cent. in nominal amount of the Bonds outstanding (an
“Electronic Consent” as defined in the Trust Deed) shall, for all purposes (including matters that
would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed), take effect as an Extraordinary
Resolution passed at a meeting of Bondholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all
Bondholders and holders of Coupons whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent; and

(b)

where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written
Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) has been validly passed, the Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Trustee shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer, the
Guarantor and/or the Trustee, as the case may be, (a) by accountholders in the clearing system(s) with
entitlements to such Global Bond and/or, (b) where the accountholders hold any such entitlement on
behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person identified by that
accountholder as the person for whom such entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the
entitlement to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Trustee shall be
entitled to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the “relevant clearing
system”) and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and the accountholder identified by
the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall
be binding on all Bondholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to
be defective. Any such certificate or other document shall, be conclusive and binding for all purposes.
Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic
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records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear’s EUCLID or Clearstream,
Luxembourg’s CreationOnline system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the
accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Bonds is clearly identified together
with the amount of such holding. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Trustee shall be liable to
any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other
document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be
forged or not authentic.
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Initial Cover Ratios for the Bonds
1

Initial Interest Cover Ratio
The unaudited aggregate Net Annual Income as at 30 September 2016 from the Initial Specifically Mortgaged
Premises was £16,350,2131, giving an Interest Cover Ratio of 2.31:12.

2

Initial Asset Cover Ratio
The Value of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises as specified in the Valuation Report is £518,440,000
giving an Asset Cover Ratio of 1.82:13.

1

As agreed by Ernst & Young LLP, as the Issuer's and Guarantor's Auditors, as if for the purposes provided for in the definition of "Net Annual
Income" in the Conditions. Such agreement does not amount to an audit or independent review report.
2
Calculated on the assumed basis that £285,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds carrying an annual interest rate of 2.487 per cent. were
outstanding on 30 September 2016.
3
Calculated on the assumed bases that:

a.
b.

the date of Valuation Report was a "Ratio Testing Date" and the Valuation Report was a "Valuation" as at that date (in each case as
defined in the Conditions); and
£285,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds carrying an annual interest rate of 2.487 per cent..
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Description of the Issuer
1

Incorporation
The Issuer was incorporated in England and Wales on 18 July 1986 under the name Havenhove Limited
(registered number 2038836) as a private limited company under the Companies Act 1985. On 20 September
2016, the Issuer changed its name to Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC and re-registered as a public limited company
under the Companies Act. The Issuer is domiciled in the UK and its registered office and head office is at 22
Ganton Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom (Tel. +44 20 7333 8118).
The principal laws and legislation under which the Issuer operates are the Companies Act and regulations
made thereunder.

2

Principal activities
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is a property investment company which owns properties in and
around Carnaby Street in London's West End.
Further details regarding the Group's principal activities, including those of the Issuer, are set out in paragraph
2 of the section headed "Description of the Guarantor and the Group" below.

3

Organisational structure
The Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor and is under its direct control. The Issuer is in part
dependent on receiving support from the Group in relation to its property investment activities.
Further details regarding the Group's organisational structure are set out in paragraph 5 of the section headed
"Description of the Guarantor and the Group" below.

4

Financial information
The Issuer's audited financial statements for the years ended 30 September 2015 and 30 September 2014
extracted from the Issuer's 2015 and 2014 Annual Reports and Accounts, respectively, are set out in
Appendices 1 and 2 of this Prospectus, respectively.

5

Directors and senior management
The directors of the Issuer and their principal functions are as follows:
Name

Current position

Brian Bickell

Executive Director

Simon Quayle

Executive Director

Thomas Welton

Executive Director

Christopher Ward

Executive Director

The company secretary of the Issuer is Penny Thomas.
The usual business address of each of the directors and the company secretary of the Issuer is 22 Ganton
Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom.
As at the date of this Prospectus, all of the directors of the Issuer are closely involved with all the members of
the Group and all of the directors of the Issuer are board members of numerous Group companies, including
the Guarantor. Except as disclosed in this paragraph 5, in respect of any director of the Issuer, there are no
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actual or potential conflicts of interests between any duties they have to the Issuer, either in respect of the
issue of the Bonds or otherwise, and the private interests and/or other duties they may also have.
No director of the Issuer has a material interest in any significant contract with the Issuer or any other
member of the Group.
No director of the Issuer was selected to be a director of the Issuer pursuant to any arrangement or
understanding with a major customer, supplier or other person having a business connection with the Issuer or
any other member of the Group.
There are no family relationships between any of the directors of the Issuer.
6

Share capital and shareholder
The issued share capital of the Issuer as at 30 September 2015 comprised 245,000,000 ordinary shares of
£1.00 each.
On 14 September 2016, the issued share capital of the Issuer was reduced by £244,900,000 to £100,000
ordinary shares of £1.00 each.
The entire issued share capital of the Issuer is owned by the Guarantor.
The issued share capital of the Issuer has not been admitted to trading on any recognised investment
exchange.

7

Dividend
On 17 December 2015, the Issuer paid a dividend of £317,520,000 to the Guarantor.
On 15 September 2016, the Issuer paid a dividend of £252,000,000 to the Guarantor.

8

Transfer of properties
As at 30 September 2014, the Issuer's investment properties had a fair value of £921,105,000 and as at 30
September 2015, they had a fair value of £499,560,000. The decrease in investment properties was primarily
due to the transfer of a number of properties with a fair value of £546,600,000 to Shaftesbury AV Limited (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor), see note 9 of the Issuer's 2015 Annual Report and Accounts for
further details.
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Description of the Guarantor and the Group
1

Incorporation of the Guarantor
The Guarantor was incorporated in England and Wales on 13 March 1986 under the name Kindcove Limited
(registered number 1999238) as a private limited company under the Companies Act 1985. On 4 November
1986, the Guarantor changed its name to Shaftesbury Limited and subsequently re-registered as a public
limited company under the Companies Act on 21 September 1987. The Guarantor is domiciled in the UK and
its registered office and head office is at 22 Ganton Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom
(Tel. +44 20 7333 8118).
The principal laws and legislation under which the Guarantor operates are the Companies Act and regulations
made thereunder.

2

Principal activities
The Guarantor is a REIT and is the holding company of the Group which owns a real estate portfolio
extending to 14 acres in the heart of London's West End. The Group's holdings are concentrated in villages in
Carnaby, Covent Garden, Chinatown, Soho and Charlotte Street.
The Group's objective is to deliver long-term growth in rental income, capital values and shareholder returns.
The Group focuses on retail, restaurants, cafés and pubs. Its wholly-owned portfolio extended to 1 million sq.
ft., and accounted for 70 per cent. of its current income as at 31 March 2016. In its locations these uses have a
long record of occupier demand exceeding their availability. As at 31 March 2016, the portfolio also included
406,000 sq. ft. of offices and 539 apartments for rent, which provided 17 per cent. and 13 per cent.,
respectively, of its current income.
In addition, the Group has a 50 per cent. interest in the Longmartin Joint Venture, which has a long leasehold
interest in St Martin's Courtyard in Covent Garden. Extending to 1.9 acres, it included 21 shops, ten
restaurants and cafés, 102,000 sq. ft. of offices and 75 apartments as at 31 March 2016.
The Group's management strategy is to create and foster distinctive, attractive and prosperous locations. Its
implementation is supported by an experienced management team with an innovative approach to long-term
sustainable income and value creation.
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3

The portfolio
The Group's portfolio, including its 50 per cent. share of the Longmartin Joint Venture, was valued at 31
March 2016 at £3.26 billion. The table below provides an overview of the valuation of the Group's portfolio
as at 31 March 2016:

Capital value Topped-up
growth1, 4
initial Equivalent
ERV
%
yield5
yield6
£m
%
%

Fair value
£m

% of
portfolio

Current
Income3
£m

1,140.1

35%

38.7

47.9

2.6%

3.28%

3.66%

Covent Garden

846.9

26%

27.3

34.5

1.7%

2.95%

3.55%

Chinatown

704.5

22%

22.5

28.6

0.8%

3.19%

3.45%

Soho

233.6

7%

7.8

9.6

2.6%

3.02%

3.63%

Charlotte Street

109.2

3%

3.4

4.5

2.2%

2.93%

3.53%

3,034.3

93%

99.7

125.1

1.9%

3.14%

3.57%

3.01%

3.68%

Wholly-owned portfolio
Carnaby

2

223.3

7%

7.5

9.7

4.7%

Total portfolio

3,257.6

100%

107.2

134.8

2.1%

Longmartin JV

Notes:
1. Like-for-like.
2. Group’s 50% share.
3. Current income includes total annual actual and ‘estimated income’ reserved by leases. No rent is attributed to leases
which were subject to rent-free periods at the valuation date. Current income does not reflect any ground rents, head
rents nor rent charges and estimated irrecoverable outgoings at the valuation date. ‘Estimated income’ refers to ERV
in respect of rent reviews outstanding at the valuation date and, where appropriate, ERV in respect of lease renewals
outstanding at the valuation date where the fair value reflects terms for a renewed lease.
4. Capital value growth over the six months ended 31 March 2016.
5. Topped-up initial yield is an adjusted initial yield which assumes rent free periods or other unexpired lease incentives,
such as discounted rent periods and step ups, have expired.
6. Equivalent yield is the internal rate of return from an investment property, based on the gross outlays for the purchase
of a property (including purchase costs), reflecting reversions to current market rent, and such items as voids and nonrecoverable expenditure but disregarding potential changes in market rents.

Further details of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises are set out in the sections headed "Valuation
Report".
4

Financial information
Details regarding the Group's financial information are set out in the sections headed "Documents
Incorporated by Reference" and "Selected Financial Information".
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5

Organisational structure
The Guarantor is the holding company of the Group. The Guarantor and its subsidiaries and affiliates form the
Group. The Guarantor is, in part, dependent on receiving support from the Group in relation to its property
investment activities.
The following table contains a list of the subsidiaries and affiliates of the Guarantor (direct and indirect) as at
the date of this Prospectus:
Company1

Directly held by (ordinary
shares)

Holding (%)

Carnaby Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Carnaby Investments Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Carnaby Property Investments Limited

Carnaby Estate Holdings
Limited

100

Charlotte Street Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Chinatown Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Chinatown London Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Chinatown Property Investments
Limited

Chinatown Estate Holdings
Limited

100

Covent Garden Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Fifty Frith Street Limited2

Shaftesbury Soho Limited

100

Helcon Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Covent Garden Property
Investments Limited

Covent Garden Estate Holdings
Limited

100

Shaftesbury AV Investment Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury AV Limited

Shaftesbury AV Investment
Limited

100

Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Charlotte Street Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Chinatown Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury CL Investment Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury CL Limited

Shaftesbury CL Investment
Limited

100

Shaftesbury Covent Garden Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 1 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 2 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100
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Shaftesbury Investments 4 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 5 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 6 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 7 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 8 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 9 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 10 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Soho Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Longmartin Properties Limited3

Shaftesbury PLC
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Notes:

6

1.

All of the companies are either engaged in property investment or are dormant. They are all incorporated and
registered in England and Wales.

2.

Fifty Frith Street Limited is currently being wound up on a solvent basis and will be dissolved following completion
of the winding up process.

3.

Control of Longmartin Properties Limited is shared equally with The Mercer's Company, which owns 50 per cent. of
its issued share capital.

Directors and senior management
The directors of the Guarantor and their principal functions are as follows:
Name

Current position

Brian Bickell

Executive Director (Chief Executive)

Simon Quayle

Executive Director (Property)

Thomas Welton

Executive Director (Property)

Christopher Ward

Executive Director (Finance)

Jonathan Nicholls

Non-Executive Director, Chairman and Chairman of
the Nomination Committee

Jill Little

Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent
Director

Dermot Mathias

Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee

Sally Walden

Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee

Oliver Marriott

Non-Executive Director

Hilary Riva

Non-Executive Director
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The company secretary of the Guarantor is Penny Thomas.
The usual business address of each of the directors and the company secretary of the Guarantor is 22 Ganton
Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom.
As at the date of this Prospectus, all of the directors of the Guarantor are closely involved with all the
members of the Group and all of the executive directors of the Guarantor are board members of numerous
Group companies, including the Issuer. Except as disclosed in this paragraph 6, in respect of any director of
the Guarantor, there are no actual or potential conflicts of interests between any duties they have to the
Guarantor, either in respect of the issue of the Bonds or otherwise, and the private interests and/or other duties
they may also have.
No director of the Guarantor has a material interest in any significant contract with the Guarantor or any other
member of the Group.
No director of the Guarantor was selected to be a director of the Guarantor pursuant to any arrangement or
understanding with a major customer, supplier or other person having a business connection with the
Guarantor or any other member of the Group.
There are no family relationships between any of the directors of the Guarantor.
7

Share capital and major shareholders
The issued share capital of the Guarantor comprises 278,555,082 ordinary shares of 25 pence each, which
have been admitted to the Official List and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange.
As at 3 October 2016 (being the last practicable date prior to the publication of this Prospectus), the
Guarantor has been notified of the following interests in its ordinary shares pursuant to DTR5 of the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules:
Percentage interest of issued
share capital of the
Guarantor
Invesco Limited

14.12

Orosi (UK) Limited/PEL (UK) Limited

10.02

Norges Bank

9.02

BlackRock Inc

6.01

Amerprise Financial Inc

4.99

Standard Life Investments Limited

4.98

F & C Asset Management PLC

4.97

Royal London Asset Management Ltd

4.37

Stitching Pensioenfonds ABP

3.56
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Selected Financial Information
The following is a summary of the Group’s financial information for the periods indicated. The unaudited
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the six months ended 31 March 2016 and Group Balance
Sheet as at 31 March 2016 have been extracted without material adjustment from the Guarantor's 2016
Interim Statement. The audited Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the financial years ended 30
September 2015 and 30 September 2014 and the Group Balance Sheets as at 30 September 2015 and 30
September 2014 have been extracted without material adjustment from the Guarantor's 2015 Annual Report
and Accounts. Such information has been incorporated by reference into this Prospectus as set out in the
section headed "Documents Incorporated by Reference" above. Prospective investors should also read the
detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference
herein) and not rely only on the information summarised in this section.
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Part A
1

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
Six months ended
31.3.2016
£m
Revenue

Year ended As restated Year ended
30.9.2015
30.9.2014
£m
£m

53.4

98.7

91.2

(11.3)

(19.9)

(17.1)

Net property income

42.1

78.8

74.1

Administrative expenses

(4.9)

(11.0)

(10.6)

Charge in respect of equity settled
remuneration

(1.5)

(3.0)

(3.2)

Total administrative expenses

(6.4)

(14.0)

(13.8)

Operating profit before investment
property valuation movements

35.7

64.8

60.3

58.2

432.0

394.0

93.9

496.8

454.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

(16.7)

(30.8)

(29.6)

(12.1)

(28.5)

(12.0)

(28.7)

(59.2)

(41.5)

Share of post-tax profit from joint venture

14.9

29.7

27.6

Profit before tax

80.1

467.3

440.4

-

-

-

80.1

467.3

440.4

Basic

28.8p

168.0p

165.2p

Diluted

28.7p

167.4p

164.6p

EPRA1

7.3p

13.0p

12.2p

Property charges

Net surplus on revaluation of investment
properties
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Change in fair value of derivative financial
instruments
Net finance costs

Tax charge for the period
Profit and total comprehensive income for
the period
Earnings per share:

Note:
1.

Please see Table 1 below in Part B of this section for a reconciliation between IFRS earnings per share and EPRA
earnings per share. Please see page 25 of the Guarantor's 2016 Interim Statement and page 156 of the Guarantor's
2015 Annual Report and Accounts for an explanation of EPRA earnings per share used above.
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2

Group Balance Sheet

31.3.2016
£m

30.9.2015
£m

As restated 30.9.2014
£m

3,022.2

2,908.0

2,425.5

9.9

9.5

7.5

143.4

129.6

101.5

Property, plant and equipment

1.4

1.5

1.6

Other receivables

3.7

3.7

1.5

3,180.6

3,052.3

2,537.6

Trade and other receivables

19.0

21.7

21.4

Cash and cash equivalents

7.2

7.7

3.4

3,206.8

3,081.7

2,562.4

38.8

36.8

36.7

689.6

640.3

553.7

91.3

79.2

78.8

819.7

756.3

669.2

2,387.1

2,325.4

1,893.2

69.7

69.6

69.5

124.7

124.7

124.6

2.7

4.0

4.0

Retained earnings

2,190.0

2,127.1

1,695.1

Total equity

2,387.1

2,325.4

1,893.2

£8.57

£8.36

£6.81

£8.53

£8.32

£6.79

£8.93

£8.69

£7.13

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Accrued income
Investment in joint venture

Current assets

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Share based payments reserve

Net asset value per share:
Basic
Diluted
1

EPRA

Note:
1.

Please see Table 2 below in Part B of this section for a reconciliation between IFRS net asset value per share and
EPRA net asset value per share. Please see page 25 of the Guarantor's 2016 Interim Statement and page 156 of the
Guarantor's 2015 Annual Report and Accounts for an explanation of EPRA net asset value per share used above.
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Part B
Table 1: EPRA earnings per share reconciliation to IFRS
Six-months ended
31.3.2016
£m

Year ended
30.9.2015
£m

As restated Year ended
30.9.2014
£m

80.1

467.3

440.4

(58.2)

(432.0)

(394.0)

12.1

28.5

12.0

(10.4)

(34.6)

(32.4)

IFRS profit after tax
Adjusted for:
-

Change in value of investment properties

-

Change in fair value of financial instruments

Adjustments in respect of the Longmartin joint
venture:
-

Change in value of investment properties

-

Deferred tax

(3.4)

6.9

6.6

EPRA earnings
EPRA EPS

20.2
7.3p

36.1
13.0p

32.6
12.2p

31.3.2016
£m

30.9.2015
£m

As restated 30.9.2014
£m

2,387.1

2,325.4

1,893.2

0.4

0.4

0.4

2,387.5

2,325.8

1,893.6

91.3

79.2

78.8

19.1

22.6

15.7

2,497.9
£8.93

2,427.6
£8.69

1,988.1
£7.13

Table 2: EPRA net asset value per share reconciliation to IFRS

IFRS net assets
Effect of exercise of options
Diluted net assets
Adjusted for:
-

Fair value of financial instruments

Adjustments in respect of the Longmartin joint
venture:
-

Deferred tax

EPRA NAV
EPRA NAV per share
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5 October 2016
Shaftesbury PLC (the "Guarantor")
22 Ganton Street
Carnaby
LONDON
W1F 7FD

IDCM Limited ("IDCM")
26 Dover Street
LONDON
W1S 4LY

Lloyds Bank plc (together with IDCM) (the "Joint Bookrunners")
10 Gresham Street
LONDON
EC2V 7AE

Prudential Trustee Company Limited (the "Trustee")
Laurence Pountney Hill
LONDON
EC4R 0HH

Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC (the "Issuer")
22 Ganton Street
Carnaby
LONDON
W1F 7FD

Dear Sirs
Portfolio valuation as at 23 September 2016:
1 & 2 Marlborough Court; 1, 2, 33, 34, 35, 36 & 37 Marshall Street; 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12,
16 & 17 Newburgh Street; 13/15 Newburgh Street (incl 3,4 Marlborough Court & 5,6 Lowndes
Court); 12a Newburgh Street/2 Lowndes Court; 1&2 Silver Place; 2, 4-6, 8, 10 & 12 Ganton Street;
10-16 Carnaby Street & 74/76 Broadwick Street; 5/7, 8, 9, 21, 22/23, 23/24, 25, 26/27, 28/28a, 29
Carnaby Street (incl. 2nd/3rd flrs, 30 Carnaby St) & 30/31 Carnaby Street; 26, 28 & 30/32 Fouberts
Place; 3 Lowndes Court; 31 Kingly Street and 5/7 Fouberts Place; 37, 39, 46/48 & 47 Beak Street;
Canaletto Yard, 41/45 Beak Street; 41, 48 & 49 Lexington Street; 46 Broadwick Street; 57
Broadwick Street ; 6 Upper John Street/20 Beak Street; 71 Broadwick Street; 9/21 Fouberts Place,
27 Great Marlborough Street, 1 Little Marlborough Street; 61-69 Broadwick Street, Eagle House
and Marshall House; Lasenby House, 27 Great Marlborough Street; Silver House, 31/35 Beak St &
2/4 Carnaby Street (all in London W1).
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1.

Introduction
In accordance with the instructions of Shaftesbury PLC (the “Guarantor”), which were
confirmed in our letter dated 22 September 2016, we have inspected the above properties
owned by Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC (the "Issuer") and referred to in the schedule (the
“Schedule”), in order to advise you of our opinion of the Fair Values of the freehold or
leasehold interests in each of the properties as at 23 September 2016.
The portfolio comprises various retail, restaurant, leisure, office and residential properties, the
majority of which are held as investments. The property known as 57 Broadwick Street is in the
course of development.
In accordance with the provisions of VPGA 8 contained within the RICS Valuation –
Professional Standards 2014 (the "Red Book"), in undertaking our valuations we have lotted
together certain individual properties to form a separate property known as “Carnaby Street
East” (which, together with the other properties, are collectively referred to as the “Properties”)
in the manner we consider to be most likely to be adopted in the case of an actual sale. We
consider that lotting some of the Properties together, to form Carnaby Street East, on the basis
reflected in our valuation would allow a purchaser to capitalise on the estate management
advantages and opportunities available from such comprehensive ownership.

2.

Inspections
The commercial elements of the Properties have been inspected internally and externally by
Mark Gleave MRICS, Michael Roberts MRICS and Charles Davies MRICS within the last 12
months. We were able to inspect all of the commercial elements of the Properties apart from
the offices on 1st – 4th floors at 21 Carnaby Street and 1st – 3rd floors at 6/8 Ganton Street.
Approximately a quarter of the residential units have been inspected internally in the last 12
months.

3.

Compliance with RICS Valuation – Professional
Standards 2014
We confirm that the valuations have been prepared in accordance with the appropriate
sections of the RICS Professional Standards ("PS"), RICS Global Valuation Practice
Statements ("VPS"), RICS Global Valuation Practice Guidance – Applications ("VPGAs") and
United Kingdom Valuation Standards ("UKVS") contained within the Red Book. It follows that
the valuations are compliant with International Valuation Standards.

4.

Status of valuer and conflicts of interest
We confirm that we have sufficient current knowledge of the relevant markets, and the skills
and understanding to undertake the valuations competently. We also confirm that where more
than one valuer has contributed to the valuations the requirements of PS 2.3.7 of the Red Book
have been satisfied. We confirm that Gillian Rushmore has overall responsibility for the
valuations. Finally, we confirm that we have undertaken the valuations acting as External
Valuers, qualified for the purpose of the valuation.
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We refer to section 6.2 of this report relating to Cushman & Wakefield's and DTZ's involvement
with the Guarantor, the Issuer and the Properties.

5.

Purpose of the valuation
We understand that the valuations are required for inclusion in a Prospectus (the
“Prospectus”) for the issue by the Issuer of £285,000,000 2.487 per cent first mortgage bonds
due 2031 (the “Bonds”) and that the Properties will be mortgaged to the Trustee to secure the
repayment of the Bonds (the "Purpose of this Valuation Report"). The valuations are to be
relied upon only by the addressees and investors in the Bonds (the “Investors”), only in
connection with this purpose.

6.

Disclosures required under the provisions of PS 2.8
and UKVS 4

6.1.

Name of signatory
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung was first instructed to address a Valuation Report to the Guarantor
in 1996. We currently prepare Valuation Reports for the Guarantor’s consolidated accounts at
six monthly intervals and for the Issuer’s accounts annually. Gillian Rushmore is the signatory
of this Valuation Report.

6.2.

Cushman & Wakefield's and DTZ's relationship with the Guarantor and its
subsidiary companies
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung has been carrying out valuation instructions for the Guarantor for a
continuous period since 1996.
In addition, since 2005 we have also undertaken valuations of all the properties held by
Shaftesbury Covent Garden Limited, Shaftesbury Chinatown Limited, Shaftesbury Soho
Limited and the Issuer (subsidiary companies of the Guarantor) for these companies' accounts;
we have also undertaken valuations for Shaftesbury CL Limited and Shaftesbury AV Limited
since September 2014 and March 2015 respectively (which are also subsidiary companies of
the Guarantor) for inclusion in these companies' accounts. In addition, we also undertake
valuations of certain of the Guarantor's properties, and of certain of the properties belonging to
other subsidiary companies of the Guarantor, for other purposes such as secured lending and
for inclusion in shareholders' circulars.
On 2 September 2015, DTZ and Cushman & Wakefield combined under a common brand.
Notwithstanding our new branding, our legal entities have not changed, including their names.
Prior to 2 September 2015, the only fee-earning relationships between DTZ Debenham Tie
Leung and the Guarantor related to valuation instructions for accounts or secured lending
purposes. However, in addition to valuation instructions, there were previous fee-earning
relationships between DTZ Debenham Tie Leung and other subsidiary companies of the
Guarantor or the Guarantor itself. These related to a previous property and asset management
role in relation to properties not the subject of this valuation; to our previous involvement in
advising the Guarantor or some of its subsidiary companies in connection with the acquisition
or sale of certain properties and to our previous involvement on behalf of the Guarantor or its
subsidiaries in acting as letting agents in respect of certain of the office accommodation.
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Prior to 2 September 2015, Cushman and Wakefield (C&W) were appointed as retail agents by
the Guarantor and by the Issuer and these instructions have continued since then.

6.3.

Fee income from the Guarantor
The DTZ group became a stand-alone, private global property services company on
5 November 2014, following its sale to a consortium of investors led by TPG Capital
Management. On 1 September 2015, DTZ acquired Cushman & Wakefield and the combined
group now trades under the Cushman & Wakefield brand. Cushman & Wakefield's financial
year end is 31 December. The proportion of fees payable by the Guarantor to the Cushman &
Wakefield group in the financial year to 31 December 2015 was less than 5%.

7.

Report format
As instructed, this Valuation Report is in a condensed format. The Schedule comprises brief
details of the Properties.

8.

Basis of valuation
Our opinion of the Fair Value of each of the Properties has been primarily derived using
comparable recent market transactions on arm's length terms.

8.1.

Fair Value – IFRS
The value of each of the Properties has been assessed in accordance with the relevant parts
of RICS Valuation – Professional Standards 2014. In particular, we have assessed the Fair
Value of the Properties in accordance with VPS 4.1.5. Under these provisions, the term "Fair
Value" means "The price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date".
We confirm that, as at the valuation date, a valuation based on Market Value would be
conducted in the same manner. The definition of Market Value is included in VPS 4.1.2 of the
Red Book and means “The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange
on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction
after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and
without compulsion."

8.2.

Taxation and costs
We have not made any adjustments to reflect any liability to taxation that may arise on
disposals, nor for any costs associated with disposals incurred by the owner. No allowance
has been made to reflect any liability to repay any government or other grants, taxation
allowance or lottery funding that may arise on disposals.
We have made deductions to reflect purchasers’ acquisition costs.
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9.

VAT
The Guarantor has previously advised us that that the option to tax has been exercised in
respect of all the commercial elements of the subject Properties.
The capital valuation and rentals included in this Valuation Report are net of value added tax at
the prevailing rate.

10.

Assumptions and sources of information
An Assumption is stated in the Glossary to the Red Book to be a "supposition taken to be true"
("Assumption"). In this context, Assumptions are facts, conditions or situations affecting the
subject of, or approach to, a valuation that, by agreement, need not be verified by a valuer as
part of the valuation process. In undertaking our valuations, we have made a number of
Assumptions and have relied on certain sources of information. Where appropriate, the
Guarantor has previously confirmed that our Assumptions are correct so far as it is aware. In
the event that any of these Assumptions prove to be incorrect then our valuations should be
reviewed. The Assumptions we have made for the purposes of our valuations are referred to
below:-

10.1.

Title
We have not had access to the title deeds of any of the Properties.
We have been provided with copies of Certificates of Title (the “Certificates of Title”) prepared
by Hogan Lovells International LLP dated 23 September 2016. Save as disclosed in the
Certificates of Title, we have made an Assumption that the Issuer is possessed of good and
marketable freehold and leasehold title and in each case that the Properties are free from
rights of way or easements, restrictive covenants, disputes or onerous or unusual outgoings.
We have also assumed that the Properties are free from mortgages, charges or other
encumbrances.

10.2.

Condition of structure and services, deleterious materials, plant and
machinery and goodwill
Due regard has been paid to the apparent state of repair and condition of each of the
Properties, but condition surveys have not been undertaken, nor have woodwork or other parts
of the structures which are covered, unexposed or inaccessible, been inspected. Therefore,
we are unable to report that the Properties are structurally sound or are free from any defects.
We have made an Assumption that the Properties are free from any rot, infestation, adverse
toxic chemical treatments, and structural or design defects.
We have not arranged for investigations to be made to determine whether high alumina
cement concrete, calcium chloride additive or any other deleterious materials have been used
in the construction or any alterations, and therefore we cannot confirm that the Properties are
free from risk in this regard. For the purposes of these valuations, we have made an
Assumption that any such investigation would not reveal the presence of such materials in any
adverse condition.
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We have not carried out an asbestos inspection and have not acted as an asbestos inspector
in completing the valuation inspection of Properties that may fall within the Control of the
Asbestos at Work Regulations 2002. We have not made an enquiry of the duty holder (as
defined in the Control of Asbestos of Work Regulations 2002), of the existence of an Asbestos
Register or of any plan for the management of asbestos to be made. Where relevant, we have
made an Assumption that there is a duty holder, as defined in the Control of Asbestos of Work
Regulations 2002 and that a Register of Asbestos and Effective Management Plan is in place,
which does not require any immediate expenditure, or pose a significant risk to health, or
breach the HSE regulations. We advise that such enquiries be undertaken by a lawyer during
normal pre-contract enquiries.
No mining, geological or other investigations have been undertaken to certify that the sites are
free from any defect as to foundations. We have made an Assumption that the load bearing
qualities of the sites of the Properties are sufficient to support the buildings constructed
thereon. We have also made an Assumption that there are no services on, or crossing the
sites in a position which would inhibit development or make it unduly expensive and that there
are no abnormal ground conditions, nor archaeological remains present, which might adversely
affect the present or future occupation, development or value of any of the Properties.
No tests have been carried out as to electrical, electronic, heating, plant and machinery,
equipment or any other services nor have the drains been tested. However, we have made an
Assumption that all services, including gas, water, electricity and sewerage, are provided and
are functioning satisfactorily.
No allowance has been made in this valuation for any items of plant or machinery not forming
part of the service installations of the buildings. We have specifically excluded all items of
plant, machinery and equipment installed wholly or primarily in connection with the occupants'
businesses. We have also excluded furniture and furnishings, fixtures, fittings, vehicles, stock
and loose tools.
Further, no account has been taken in our valuations of any business goodwill that may arise
from the present occupation of any of the Properties.
It is a condition of DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited or any related company, or any qualified
employee, providing advice and opinions as to value, that the client and/or third parties
(whether notified to us or not) accept that the Valuation Report in no way relates to, or gives
warranties as to, the condition of the structure, foundations, soil and services.
Our valuation of the property known as 57 Broadwick Street, which is subject to ongoing
development, is based on the Assumption that the completed building will also satisfy the
various matters discussed above.

10.3.

Environmental matters
There is high voltage electrical supply equipment close to the Properties. The possible effects
of electromagnetic fields have been the subject of media coverage. The National Radiological
Protection Board (NRPB), an independent body with responsibility for advising on
electromagnetic fields, has advised that, following studies in 2000 and 2001, there may be a
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risk in specified circumstances, to the health of certain categories of people. Public perception
may, therefore, affect marketability and future value of the Properties.
We have previously made enquiries of the Guarantor in order, so far as reasonably possible, to
establish the risk of flooding at the Properties and the potential existence of contamination
arising out of previous or present uses of the sites and any adjoining sites.
Our enquiries and inspections have provided no evidence that there is a significant risk of
contamination in respect of any of the Properties. Accordingly, you have instructed us to make
an Assumption that no contamination or other adverse environmental matters exist in relation
to the Properties sufficient to affect value. Other than as referred to above, we have not made
any investigations into past or present uses, either of the Properties or any neighbouring land
to establish whether there is any contamination or potential for contamination to the Properties.
Commensurate with our Assumptions set out above we have made no allowance in these
valuations for any effect in respect of actual or potential contamination of land or buildings. A
purchaser in the market might, in practice, undertake further investigations than those
undertaken by us. If it is subsequently established that contamination exists at any of the
Properties or on any neighbouring land or that any of the premises within the Properties have
been, or are being, put to any contaminative use then this might reduce the values now
reported.
We have previously made enquiries of the Environment Agency website and are advised that
all of the Properties fall outside the extent of the extreme flood. This is categorised as being a
chance of flooding equivalent to 0.1% (1 in 1,000) or less.

10.4.

Areas
The Guarantor has provided us with the majority of the floor areas of the Properties. These
have been calculated by the Guarantor or its managing agents and rent review advisers. As
instructed, we have relied on these areas. We have made an Assumption that the floor areas
supplied to us have been calculated in accordance with the RICS Professional Statement
RICS Property Measurement 1st Edition 2015 (the “Code”).
Where we have been provided with floor areas by the Guarantor, we have carried out check
measurements on site of around 10% of these areas. There was no material difference
between our measured areas and the areas provided by the Guarantor; consequently, we have
adopted the areas provided by the Guarantor.
In those instances where the Guarantor has not provided us with floor areas, we have
measured the relevant Properties, or parts of Properties, on site or from scaled floor plans
provided by the Guarantor. Where we have measured Properties from scaled plans, we have
carried out check measurements on site of around 10% of these areas. We have calculated
the areas in accordance with the Code.
Effective 1 January 2016, RICS Property Measurement requires office buildings to be
measured in accordance with IPMS: Office Buildings. However, you have confirmed that we
are not required to have regard to IPMS areas for the purposes of the valuations.
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10.5.

Statutory requirements and planning
We have had regard to the Certificates of Title and the Planning Report prepared by Messrs
Rolfe Judd dated 23 September 2016 and, where appropriate, have made verbal enquiries of
them, as to the possibility of highway proposals, comprehensive development schemes and
other ancillary planning matters that could affect property values. Save as disclosed in the
Certificates of Title or otherwise advised, we have made an Assumption that the buildings have
been constructed in full compliance with valid town planning and building regulations
approvals, that where necessary they have the benefit of a current Fire Risk Assessments
compliant with the requirements of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. Similarly,
we have also made an Assumption that the Properties are not subject to any outstanding
statutory notices as to their construction, use or occupation. Unless our enquiries have
revealed the contrary, we have made a further Assumption that the existing uses of the
Properties are duly authorised or established and that no adverse planning conditions or
restrictions apply.
Planning consent has been granted to extend the existing building known as 57 Broadwick
Street at ground, first, second and third floor levels and to erect a single storey extension at
roof level to enlarge the fourth floor. Planning policy for Westminster City Council requires that
the provision of any new commercial floorspace should be matched by equivalent provision of
new residential floorspace. In this instance, it was decided that the residential requirement for
the 57 Broadwick scheme would be provided off-site at 52 Shaftesbury Avenue, a property in
the ultimate ownership of the Guarantor. As a result, there is a s106 agreement which
prevents the future occupation of the redeveloped space at 57 Broadwick Street until specified
residential units (being those on the second to fourth floors) at 52 Shaftesbury Avenue are
delivered.
Both properties are owned by subsidiary companies of the Guarantor and are, therefore, within
its ultimate control. An assignable covenant has been entered into between Shaftesbury CL
Limited, the subsidiary company which owns 52 Shaftesbury Avenue, and the Issuer to
complete the residential works at 52 Shaftesbury Avenue by no later than 30 November 2017
in order to satisfy the requirements of the s 106 agreement. The benefit of the covenant is
assignable to a purchaser of 57 Broadwick Street.
We would note, as a practical matter, that the construction contract for 52 Shaftesbury Avenue
is presently out to tender and the Guarantor anticipates works commencing in October 2016,
so their expectation is that the off-site residential will be available, and the s 106 Agreement
satisfied, before practical completion of 57 Broadwick Street which is anticipated at the end of
2017 at the earliest.
No allowance has been made for rights, obligations or liabilities arising under the Defective
Premises Act 1972, and we have made an Assumption that the Properties comply with all
relevant statutory requirements.
In England and Wales, the Government has implemented the Energy Performance of Buildings
Directive requiring Energy Performance Certificates ("EPC") to be made available for all
properties, when bought or sold, subject to certain exemptions. In respect of any of the
Properties which are not exempt from the requirements of this Directive, we have made an
Assumption that an EPC is made available, free of charge, to purchasers of the interests which
are the subject of our valuations.
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In addition, the Energy Act 2011 includes a provision whereby from April 2018 it will be
unlawful to rent out a premises with an EPC rating which, according to Government proposals
issued in February 2015, falls below an E rating. Unless our enquiries have revealed the
contrary, if any of the Properties are not exempt from these requirements, we have made an
Assumption that the Properties meet the minimum requirements to enable them to be let after
April 2018. We have been provided with a schedule of EPC ratings by the Guarantor in respect
of some of the Properties. Some parts of Properties have EPC ratings below E. The Guarantor
has a proactive policy of reviewing all EPC ratings across its portfolio and of taking appropriate
steps, once there is vacant possession, to ensure that its properties will continue to be lettable.

10.6.

Leasing
We have been provided with a summary tenancy schedule by Hogan Lovells International LLP
annexed to the Certificates of Title. In addition, we have been provided with summaries of
around 50 leases prepared by Hogan Lovells International LLP as part of their Certificates of
Title. We have relied on the contents of this schedule and the lease summaries.
We have not undertaken investigations into the financial strength of the tenants. Unless we
have become aware by general knowledge, or we have been specifically advised to the
contrary, we have made an Assumption that the tenants are financially in a position to meet
their obligations. Unless otherwise advised we have also made an Assumption that there are
no material arrears of rent or service charges, breaches of covenants, current or anticipated
tenant disputes.
However, our valuations reflect the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for
meeting lease commitments, or likely to be in occupation, and the market's general perception
of their creditworthiness.
We have also made an Assumption that wherever rent reviews or lease renewals are pending
or impending, with anticipated reversionary increases, all notices have been served validly
within the appropriate time limits.

10.7.

Information
We have made an Assumption that the information which the Issuer and the Guarantor and its
professional advisers have supplied to us in respect of each of the Properties is both full and
correct.
It follows that we have made an Assumption that details of all matters likely to affect value
within their collective knowledge such as prospective lettings, rent reviews, outstanding
requirements under legislation and planning decisions have been made available to us and
that the information is up to date.

11.

Properties in the course of development or
refurbishment
The buildings referred to below were subject to works of development, repair or refurbishment
at the valuation date, or were subject to outstanding retentions and fees in respect of projects
already completed at that date. The costs will be borne by the Issuer, as they are not
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recoverable from the tenants. We have relied upon information relating to construction and
associated costs in respect of both the work completed and the work necessary for completion,
together with a completion date, as advised by the Issuer and as set out in the construction
report prepared by Hogan Lovells International LLP annexed to the Certificates of Title.

Address

Retentions, or cost of works outstanding to complete
current repairs or refurbishment,
as at 23 September 2016

12 Ganton Street

£15,000

57 Broadwick Street*

£12,729,000

Total

£12,744,000

* In course of development
Our valuations have been based on an Assumption that all works of construction will be and
have been satisfactorily carried out in accordance with the building contract and specifications,
current British Standards and any relevant codes of practice. We have also made an
Assumption that a duty of care and all appropriate warranties will be available from the
professional team and contractors, which will be assignable to third parties.

12.

Landlord and Tenant Act 1987
The Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 (the "Act") gives certain rights to defined residential
tenants to acquire the freehold/head leasehold interest in a building where more than 50% of
the floor space is in residential use. The Certificates of Title confirm that, save in two cases,
the Act does not apply to the Properties. In respect of the two exceptions, at 41 and 49
Lexington Street, Hogan Lovells International LLP have confirmed that the Act does apply. For
the purposes of the valuation, we have made an assumption in respect of each property that
the necessary notices have been given to the residential tenants under the provisions of the
Act and that such tenants, who have two months from receipt of notice to exercise the right of
first refusal, have elected not to acquire the freehold interest, and therefore disposal into the
open market is unrestricted. In the event of an actual sale, the provisions of the Act are such
that the sale of the interests in the Properties would achieve Fair Value but the time periods for
the service of the notices and agreement of terms could extend to seven months which could
result in a delay in realising the security provided by these two properties.

13.

Market Conditions
Following the Referendum held on 23 June 2016 concerning the UK’s membership of the EU,
a decision was taken to exit. Since that date we have monitored market transactions and
market sentiment in arriving at our opinion of Fair Value.
After an initial period of uncertainty and an absence of activity, transactional volumes and
available evidence have risen in most sectors of the market and liquidity is returning to more
normal levels. This has led to a generally more stable outlook for the market. However, the
number of predominantly retail comparable transactions within the West End is less than
normal, particularly in respect of large lot sizes and, as a result, our valuation reflects a greater
degree of judgement than would be applied under more liquid market conditions.
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14.

Valuation
We are of the opinion that the aggregates of the Fair Values, as at 23 September 2016, of the
freehold and leasehold interests in the Properties described in the Schedule, subject to the
Assumptions and comments in this Valuation Report and in the Schedule were as follows:Freehold
Part freehold, part
long leasehold

£65,040,000
£453,400,000*(1)(2)

Total

£518,440,000

(Sixty-five million and forty thousand pounds)
(Four hundred and fifty-three million, four hundred
thousand pounds)
(Five hundred and eighteen million, four hundred
and forty thousand pounds)

* Notional apportionment
(1) This sum comprises the Property known as Carnaby Street East, the majority of which is
held freehold but it includes 10-20 Carnaby Street & 74 Broadwick Street, 41-45 Beak
Street and Flat 15 Marshall House, all of which are held on long leases.
(2) Long leasehold is defined as an interest with an unexpired term of more than 50 years.
We have valued the Property known as Carnaby Street East as a single lot. However, we
have undertaken a notional apportionment of the Fair Value between the freehold and long
leasehold elements of the Property as follows:-

Carnaby Street East
Freehold

£372,400,000

(Three hundred and seventy-two million, four hundred
thousand pounds)

Long leasehold

£81,000,000

(Eighty-one million pounds)

£453,400,000

(Four hundred and fifty-three million, four hundred
thousand pounds)

(10-16 (even)
Carnaby Street,
74-76 (even)
Broadwick Street,
41-45 (odd) Beak
Street & Flat
15 Marshall House)
TOTAL

The individual freehold and long leasehold figures above do not themselves represent the Fair
Value of the two elements.
The valuations are required for inclusion in a Prospectus in relation to the issue of the Bonds
and, accordingly, the basis of value is Fair Value as this is the basis adopted for the purposes
of the Issuer’s accounts. We confirm that, had we valued the Properties on the basis of Market
Value at the valuation date, the aggregate of the Market Values would have been the same as

73

Shaftesbury PLC
Date of Report 5 October 2016
Valuation date 23 September 2016

the above. The definition of Market Value is included in VPS 4.1.2 of the Red Book and means
"The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper
marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion."
The aggregate of the Fair Values of the Properties as at 23 September 2016 referred to above
compares with the aggregate of the Fair Values of the Properties at 30 September 2015 of
£499,560,000, as included in the Annual Report and Accounts of the Issuer at that date. The
movement during the period since 30 September 2015 includes changes in assumptions
underlying the valuation including, but not limited to, changes in market yields and rental
values, in both cases across the different streets, buildings and property uses. It also takes into
account improvements made to the Properties during the period and an increase in Stamp
Duty Land Tax, which came into effect in April 2016, which resulted in an increase in assumed
purchaser’s costs, which are deducted in arriving at the Fair Value.

15.

Confidentiality and disclosure
The contents of this Valuation Report and Schedule may be relied upon only by the
addressees and the Investors, only in connection with the Purpose of this Valuation Report.
No reliance may be placed upon the contents of the Valuation Report and Schedule by any
party who is not an addressee of this Valuation Report or an Investor or by an addressee of
this Valuation Report or an Investor for any purpose other than in connection with the Purpose
of this Valuation Report. For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.4(2)(f), DTZ Debenham Tie
Leung Limited hereby gives its consent to the inclusion of this Valuation Report in the
Prospectus in relation to the issue of the Bonds and to references to this Valuation Report in
the Prospectus in relation to the issue of the Bonds in the form and context in which they
appear. As required by item 13.1 of Annex IX of the Prospectus Rules, DTZ Debenham Tie
Leung Limited authorises and consequently takes responsibility for the contents of this
Valuation Report and confirms that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case, the information contained in this Valuation Report is, to the best of its knowledge and
belief, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import. Before
this Valuation Report, or any part thereof, is reproduced or referred to, in any document,
circular or statement, and before its contents, or any part thereof, are disclosed orally or
otherwise to a third party, the valuer's written approval as to the form and context of such
publication or disclosure must first be obtained. For the avoidance of doubt, such approval is
required whether or not DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited is referred to by name and whether
or not the contents of our Valuation Report are combined with others.
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Date of Report 5 October 2016
Valuation date 23 September 2016

Yours faithfully

Gillian Rushmore BSc FRICS
Senior Director
RICS Registered Valuer
For and on behalf of
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited
Direct: +44 (0)20 7152 5174
Mobile: +44 (0)7768 065529
gillian.rushmore@cushwake.com

As of 1 September 2015, DTZ and C&W have combined under a new common brand.
Notwithstanding our new branding, our underlying legal entities have not changed, including
their names.
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Valuation date 23 September 2016

Schedule
Address

Description & tenure

Occupational tenancies

Fair Value
as at 23 September 2016

Properties held for
investment:

Carnaby Street East,
London W1

The commercial elements are subject to
108 leases on an effectively full repairing
and insuring basis and 20 leases where
there is a shortfall in landlord’s recovery
of costs. Three commercial demises are
currently vacant. The leases expire
between 2016 and 2042; some leases
are subject to tenants’ or mutual options
to determine prior to expiry. The
residential accommodation is subject to
44 ASTs, one regulated tenancy and two
long leaseholds; two residential units are
currently vacant.

The property comprises 19 retail units fronting
Carnaby Street, 38 retail units in surrounding
streets (Newburgh Street/Beak Street/Broadwick
Street/Ganton Street), five restaurants and two
pubs. The upper parts predominantly comprise
approximately 83,000 sq ft offices and 49
residential units. The buildings are mostly
adjoining and the majority date from the early
th
th
19 century to the mid20 century.
All the properties are freehold with the exception
of those at 41, 43 & 45 Beak Street; Flat 15
Marshall House, Marshall Street; 10-16 Carnaby
Street and 74-76 Broadwick Street which are
held long leasehold.

Approximately 60% of the current income
is secured on retail use, 7.5% on
restaurant use, 26% on office use and
6.5% on residential use.
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£453,400,000

Shaftesbury PLC
Date of Report 5 October 2016
Valuation date 23 September 2016

Address

Description & tenure

Occupational tenancies

The retail element is let on an effectively
FRI lease expiring in December 2022,
subject to a tenant’s option to determine
in December 2017. Each of the office
leases is subject to a tenant's option to
break in September 2017; there is a
service charge shortfall in respect of one
office suite.
The retail element is let on an effectively
FRI lease expiring in June 2020; the
residential flats are sold off on a long
lease expiring in 2999 at a ground rent.

th

46/48 Beak Street,
London W1

Dating from around the late 19 century, the
property comprises a ground floor retail unit with
four separately accessed floors of offices above.
Freehold.

20 Beak Street & 6 Upper
John Street,
London W1

Dating from around the mid 20 century, the
property comprises a ground floor retail unit with
14 residential flats on the upper floors. Freehold.

th

Fair Value
as at 23 September 2016

£6,390,000

£4,100,000

th

46 Broadwick Street,
London W1

41 Lexington Street,
London W1
48 Lexington Street,
London W1

Dating from around the mid 19 century, the
property comprises a ground floor restaurant unit
with separately accessed offices on the first floor.
There are residential flats on the second and
third floors. Freehold.
th
Dating from around the late 18 century, the
property comprises a ground floor retail unit with
three residential flats on the upper floors.
Freehold.
th
Dating from around the early 19 century, the
property comprises a ground floor retail unit with
six residential flats on the upper floors. Freehold.

The restaurant and offices are let on
effectively FRI leases until June 2023 and
March 2017 respectively. The two
residential units are subject to ASTs.
The retail element is let on an effectively
FRI lease expiring in May 2030; the
residential flats are sold off on long
leases at a ground rent.
The retail unit is let on an effectively FRI
lease until March 2019. The six
residential units are subject to ASTs.
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£4,780,000

£1,480,000

£6,500,000

Shaftesbury PLC
Date of Report 5 October 2016
Valuation date 23 September 2016

Address

Description & tenure

Occupational tenancies

th

49 Lexington Street,
London W1

Dating from around the early 19 century, the
property comprises a ground floor restaurant unit
with two residential units on the upper floors.
Freehold.

1/2 Silver Place,
London W1

Dating from around the early 19 century, the
property comprises two ground floor retail units
with three residential units on the upper floors.
Freehold.

1 & 2 Marshall Street,
London W1

Dating from around the early 20 century, the
property comprises two ground floor retail units
with eight residential units on the upper floors.
Freehold.

The restaurant element is let on an
effectively FRI lease expiring in October
2029; the residential units are sold off on
long leases at a ground rent.
The retail element is let on two effectively
FRI leases expiring in February 2017 and
June 2025; the latter lease has a tenant’s
option to determine in June 2020. One
residential unit is subject to an AST; the
other two are sold off on a long lease at a
ground rent.
The retail element is let on two effectively
FRI leases expiring in December 2019
and June 2020. The residential units are
subject to ASTs.

th

th

Fair Value
as at 23 September 2016

£1,430,000

£2,360,000

£8,500,000

Property in the course of
development:

57 Broadwick Street, London
W1

Constructed in around 1970, the property
comprises the freehold interest in an existing
building arranged on basement, ground and four
upper floors, together with 37 residential units in
a tower above which have all been sold off on
long leases. Planning consent has been granted
to extend the existing building at ground, first,
second and third floor levels and to erect a single
storey extension at roof level to enlarge the
fourth floor. Works are in progress to create a

With the exception of the residential units
in the tower block, which are sold off on
long leases, the property is currently
vacant.
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£29,500,000

Shaftesbury PLC
Date of Report 5 October 2016
Valuation date 23 September 2016

Address

Description & tenure

Occupational tenancies

Fair Value
as at 23 September 2016

retail unit of around 4,000 sq ft and a restaurant
unit of around 2,800 sq ft. The offices on the
upper floors are being refurbished and, on
completion, will comprise approximately 19,000
sq ft. Two new residential apartments are being
created on the fourth floor. Phased practical
completion is anticipated to start in August and
complete by December 2017. The outstanding
costs are £12,729,000.
TOTAL FAIR VALUE

£518,440,000
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Use of Proceeds
On 13 September 2016, the Guarantor gave notice to holders of the Stock of its election to redeem the Stock.
Such redemption will be effected on the Closing Date. Holders of the Stock may receive either Bonds or cash
in consideration for their Stock (together with a cash payment in respect of interest accrued to the date of
redemption (the "Accrued Interest")). Based on elections received from holders of the Stock, £81.8 million
in nominal amount of the Bonds will be exchanged for Stock, meaning that the net cash proceeds to the Issuer
from the issue of the Bonds will be £203.2 million before expenses.
The Issuer will use the net cash proceeds after expenses to repay £136.9 million of intercompany
indebtedness owed by the Issuer to the Guarantor, with the balance being advanced by way of a loan to the
Guarantor to cancel interest rate swaps with a notional principal of up to £55 million and for general corporate
purposes. The Guarantor will use £10.5 million of the proceeds of the loan from the Issuer to pay holders of
Stock who are entitled to cash in consideration for their Stock and to pay the Accrued Interest.
The Stock will be cancelled and de-listed from the London Stock Exchange following the redemption.
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United Kingdom Taxation
The comments below are of a general nature based on current United Kingdom law and HM Revenue &
Customs practice (which may not be binding on HM Revenue & Customs) and are not intended to be
exhaustive. They relate only to the position of persons who are the absolute beneficial owners of their Bonds
and any associated Coupons and may not apply to certain classes of persons such as dealers, certain
professional investors or persons connected with the Issuer. They do not necessarily apply where the income
is deemed for tax purposes to be the income of any person other than the absolute beneficial owner.
Reference in this part to "interest" shall mean amounts that are treated as interest for the purposes of United
Kingdom taxation.
Bondholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position, or who may be subject to tax in a
jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom, should consult their professional advisers.
1

Payments of interest on the Bonds
1.1

Payments by the Issuer

The Bonds will constitute "quoted Eurobonds" within the meaning of Section 987 Income Tax Act 2007
provided that they carry a right to interest and are and continue to be listed on a "recognised stock exchange"
within the meaning of Section 1005 Income Tax Act 2007 (the London Stock Exchange is so recognised).
Securities will be treated as listed on the London Stock Exchange if they are both admitted to trading on the
London Stock Exchange and included on the Official List.
While the Bonds are and continue to be quoted Eurobonds, payments of interest on the Bonds may be made
by the Issuer without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.
Where interest on Bonds is paid to a company which is beneficially entitled to the interest and is within the
charge to United Kingdom corporation tax as regards that interest (or a partnership each member of which is
such a company) and the Issuer at the time of the payment of interest in question reasonably believes that this
is the case, no withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax need be made,
provided that HM Revenue & Customs has not given a direction to the contrary under Section 931 of the
Income Tax Act 2007.
In all other cases, interest on the Bonds will generally be paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax
at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.) subject to the availability of other exemptions or reliefs or to any
direction to the contrary from HM Revenue & Customs in respect of such relief as may be available under the
provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty or to any other exemption that may apply.
1.2

Payments in respect of the Guarantee

The United Kingdom withholding tax treatment of payments by the Guarantor under the terms of the
Guarantee in respect of interest on the Bonds (or other amounts due under the Bonds other than the repayment
of amounts subscribed for the Bonds) is uncertain. In particular, such payments by the Guarantor may not be
eligible for the exemption in respect of securities listed on a recognised stock exchange described above in
relation to payments of interest by the Issuer. Accordingly, if the Guarantor makes any such payments, these
may be subject to United Kingdom withholding tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.).
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2

Direct Assessment (including issues relevant to non-United Kingdom resident Bondholders)
Interest on the Bonds will have a United Kingdom source and, accordingly, subject to the following, may be
chargeable to United Kingdom tax by direct assessment. However, interest received without deduction or
withholding is not chargeable to United Kingdom tax in the hands of a Bondholder (other than certain
trustees) who is not resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom unless the Bondholder carries on a trade
through a permanent establishment (in the case of a Bondholder which is a company) in the United Kingdom
in connection with which interest is received or to which the Bonds are attributable or the Bondholder carries
on a trade, profession or vocation through a branch or agency in the United Kingdom where the Bonds are
used by, or held by or for, that branch or agency. In this case, United Kingdom tax may be levied on the
permanent establishment or branch or agency (as appropriate), although there are certain exceptions for
income received by specified categories of agent (such as some brokers and investment managers).
Where interest on the Bonds has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Bondholders who
are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an
appropriate provision in an applicable double taxation treaty.
The provisions relating to the payment of additional amounts in Condition 10 (Taxation) of the Conditions
would not apply if HM Revenue & Customs sought to assess the person entitled to the relevant interest
directly to United Kingdom tax. However, exemption from or reduction of such United Kingdom tax liability
might be available under an applicable double taxation treaty.

3

Income Tax – Individual Bondholders
Bondholders who are not subject to United Kingdom corporation tax but who are resident in the United
Kingdom or who carry on a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency
to which the Bonds are attributable will, generally, be subject to United Kingdom income tax on interest
arising in respect of the Bonds on a receipts basis.

4

Accrued Income Scheme – Individual Bondholders
A transfer (within the meaning of Chapter 2 of Part 12 of the Income Tax Act 2007) of a Bond by a
Bondholder not within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax who is resident for tax purposes in the
United Kingdom or who carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency to which the
Bond is attributable may give rise to a charge to United Kingdom income tax on the transferor in respect of an
amount representing interest on the Bond which has accrued since the preceding Interest Payment Date under
the provisions of Chapter 2 of Part 12 of the Income Tax Act 2007.

5

Taxation of Chargeable Gains – Individual Bondholders
The Bonds should constitute "qualifying corporate bonds". Therefore, no chargeable gains and no allowable
losses should arise for United Kingdom tax purposes on a disposal (including redemption) of a Bond.

6

Corporation Tax Payers
Bondholders within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax will not be subject to the methods of
taxation set out above. Instead, they will be taxed in respect of their holding of the Bonds under the loan
relationship rules in Part 5 of the Corporation Tax Act 2009 and, therefore, generally, any profits, gains and
losses arising in respect of the Bonds, measured and recognised broadly in accordance with an accounting
method of the relevant Bondholder complying with generally accepted accounting practice, will be taxed or
relieved as income.
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7

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding
Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a
"foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru
payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements.
A number of jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom, have entered into, or have agreed in substance to,
intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way
in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of the IGAs as currently in effect, a
foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA
or an IGA from payments that it makes.
Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Bonds,
including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to
payments on instruments such as the Bonds, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding
would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Bonds,
such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019.
Bondholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in
the Bonds.

8

The Proposed Financial Transactions Tax
On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a
Directive for a common financial transactions tax ("FTT") in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain,
France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States"). However,
Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.
The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the
Bonds (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.
Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and
outside the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Bonds where at
least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A
financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad
range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State
or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member
State.
However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may
therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member
States may decide to participate.
Bondholders are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

9

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax
No United Kingdom ad valorem stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax is payable on the issue of the Bonds or
any subsequent transfer of the Bonds.
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Subscription and Sale
The Managers have, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 5 October 2016, jointly and severally agreed
with the Issuer and the Guarantor, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe for Bonds that
are not exchanged for the Stock at 100 per cent. of their principal amount. In addition, the Issuer has agreed to
pay to the Managers a commission and to reimburse the Managers for certain of their expenses in connection
with the issue of the Bonds. The Subscription Agreement entitles the Managers to terminate it in certain
circumstances prior to payment being made to the Issuer. The yield of the Bonds is 2.487 per annum. The
yield is calculated as at 29 September 2016 on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future
yield.
1

General
Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor nor any Manager has taken or will take any action in any jurisdiction that
would permit a public offering of the Bonds, or possession or distribution of this Prospectus (in preliminary,
proof or final form) or any other offering or publicity material relating to the Bonds (including roadshow
materials and investor presentations), in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
Each Manager has agreed that it will comply to the best of its knowledge and belief in all material respects
with all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or delivers
Bonds or has in its possession or distributes this Prospectus (in preliminary, proof or final form) or any such
other material, in all cases at its own expense. It will also ensure that no obligations are imposed on the Issuer,
the Guarantor or any other Manager in any such jurisdiction as a result of any of the foregoing actions.

2

United States
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the
meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.
The Bonds are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S.
tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code and regulations thereunder.
Each Manager has represented and agreed that, except as permitted by the Subscription Agreement, it has not
offered, sold or delivered and will not offer, sell or deliver the Bonds: (i) as part of their distribution at any
time; or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Closing Date
(as defined in the Subscription Agreement) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of,
U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Bonds during the distribution compliance
period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds within the
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.
In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Bonds within the United
States by a dealer that is not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.

3

United Kingdom
Each Manager has represented and agreed that:
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(a)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
Section 21 of FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Bonds in circumstances
in which Section 21(1) of FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and

(b)

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to anything done
by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.
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General Information
1.

The listing of the Bonds on the Official List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount
(exclusive of accrued interest). It is expected that listing of the Bonds on the Official List and
admission of the Bonds to trading on the Market will be granted on or before 10 October 2016, subject
only to the issue of a Global Bond. Prior to official listing and admission to trading, however, dealings
will be permitted by the London Stock Exchange in accordance with its rules. Transactions will
normally be effected for delivery on the third working day after the day of the transaction. The Issuer
estimates that the amount of expenses related to the admission to trading of the Bonds will be
approximately £6,200.

2.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations
in the United Kingdom in connection with the issue and performance of the Bonds and the Guarantee.
The issue of the Bonds was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on
27 September 2016 and 28 September 2016 and the giving of the Guarantee by the Guarantor was
authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 21 September 2016
and resolutions of a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 27
September 2016 and 28 September 2016.

3.

Except as disclosed in paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of the section headed "Description of the Issuer" on page
50 of this Prospectus, there has been: (i) no significant change in the financial or trading position of the
Issuer since 30 September 2015; and (ii) no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer
since 30 September 2015. There has been: (i) no significant change in the financial or trading position
of the Guarantor or of the Group since 31 March 2016; and (ii) no material adverse change in the
prospects of the Guarantor or of the Group since 30 September 2015.

4.

There has been no material change in the valuation of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises set
out in the section headed "Valuation Report" since 23 September 2016 (being the effective date of the
valuation and the latest practicable date at which the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises could be
valued prior to the date of this Prospectus).

5.

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which the Issuer or the Guarantor is aware), during the period from 12
months preceding the date of this Prospectus, which may have, or have had in the recent past,
significant effects on the Issuer's, the Guarantor's or the Group's financial position or profitability.

6.

Each Bond and Coupon will bear the following legend: “Any United States person who holds this
obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the
limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”.

7.

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records) with a Common Code of 149339507.
The ISIN for the Bonds is XS1493395070.
The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of
Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg.

8.

There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer’s or
Guarantor’s business, which could result in any member of the Group being under an obligation or

86

entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s or Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligations to Bondholders
in respect of the Bonds.
9.

Where information in this Prospectus has been sourced from third parties, this information has been
accurately reproduced and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from the information
published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third-party information is identified where used.

10.

For the period of 12 months starting on the date of this Prospectus, copies (and English translations
where the documents in question are not in English) of the following documents will be available,
during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection
at the registered office of Issuer and the Guarantor:
(a)

the Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Bond, the definitive Bond and the
Coupons);

(b)

the memorandum and articles of association of the Issuer and the Guarantor;

(c)

the Group's published audited financial statements for the two years ended 30 September 2015
and 30 September 2014;

(d)

the Group's published unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 31
March 2016;

(e)

a copy of this Prospectus together with any supplement to this Prospectus or further Prospectus;
and

(f)

all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and statements by any
expert, any part of which is extracted or referred to in this Prospectus.

This Prospectus will be published on the websites of the Guarantor at www.shaftesbury.co.uk and the
Regulatory
News
Service
operated
by
the
London
Stock
Exchange
at
http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/prices-and-news/news/market-news/market-newshome.html.
11.

The Group's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 31 March 2016 and the
audited financial statements of the Issuer and the Group for the years ended 30 September 2015 and 30
September 2014 contained and incorporated by reference in this Prospectus do not constitute statutory
accounts within the meaning of Section 434 of the Companies Act. Statutory accounts for the Issuer
and the Guarantor for the financial years ended 30 September 2015 and 30 September 2014 have been
delivered to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales. The Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s
auditors have made a report under Section 495 of the Companies Act on the last statutory accounts that
was not “qualified” within the meaning of Section 539 of the Companies Act and did not contain a
statement made under Section 498(2) or Section 498(3) of the Companies Act. The report of the
Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s auditors contained the following statement: “To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.”

12.

The Group adopted IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ for the first time for the financial year ended 30
September 2015. This standard removes the proportionate consolidation option that was previously
available under IAS 31 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’ and instead requires the Group to account for joint
ventures using the equity method. The consequence is that the Group’s net equity interest in the
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Longmartin Joint Venture is now included as a single line item in both the consolidated balance sheet
and consolidated income statement, rather than proportionally consolidating the Group’s share of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses on a line-by-line basis. Loans, interest and management fees
between the Group and the Longmartin Joint Venture are no longer eliminated on consolidation. Whilst
this change in accounting policy does not affect the net asset position nor profit after tax, it does alter
the line-by-line analysis in the primary statements and the cash and cash equivalents reported in the
Group Cash Flow Statement. The prior year comparatives have been restated accordingly in the
Group's audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2015, and the changes
are summarised in note 2 to such financial statements.
13.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP of 7 More London Riverside, London, SE1 2RT (Chartered
Accountants) and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales have
audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the audited financial statements of the Issuer and
the Group, respectively for the two years ended 30 September 2015 and 30 September 2014.

14.

Ernst & Young LLP of 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF have reviewed, and rendered an
independent review report on, the Group's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months
ended 31 March 2016. Ernst & Young LLP is registered to carry out audit work by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

15.

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited of 125 Broad Street, London, EC2N 1AR does not have a material
interest in the Issuer or the Guarantor and has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the
inclusion in this Prospectus of the valuation report set out in the section headed "Valuation Report" in
the form and context in which it appears.

16.

Certain of the Managers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment
banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services to the Issuer, the
Guarantor, any other Charging Company and/or their affiliates in the ordinary course of business.

17.

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Subscription and Sale", so far as the Issuer and the Guarantor
are aware, no person involved in the issue has an interest material to the offering of the Bonds.

18.

There are no restrictions on the free transferability of the Bonds.
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Definitions
The definitions set out below apply throughout this Prospectus, unless the context requires otherwise.
"Acceleration Notice"

has the meaning given in Condition 11.1 (Events of Default);

"Accounting Half Year End"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Accounting Year End"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Asset Cover Ratio" or
"ACR"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Auditors"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Bondholder"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Bonds"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Calculation Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of
the Issuer);

"Central London"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Clearstream"

means Clearstream Banking S.A. at 42 Avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855,
Luxembourg;

"Change of Control Put
Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Event"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Event Notice"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Notice"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Option"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Period"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Charged Assets"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Charging Companies"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Charging Company"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Charging Subsidiary"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Clearing System"

means Euroclear or Clearstream;
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"Closing Date"

means 7 October 2016;

"Companies Act"

means the Companies Act 2006, as amended;

"Conditions"

means the terms and conditions of the Bonds as set out in the section
headed "Terms and Conditions of the Bonds";

"Coupon"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Couponholder"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Disclosure and Transparency
Rules"

the disclosure rules and transparency rules made by the UK Listing
Authority acting under Part VI of FSMA (as set out in the FCA
Handbook), as amended from time to time;

"Electronic Consent"

has the meaning given in paragraph 9 of the section headed
"Summary of provisions relating to the Bonds while in Global Form";

"Eligible Property"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"EPC"

has the meaning given in "Risks relating to the Group and its business
– Energy performance regulations" in the section headed "Risk
Factors";

"EPRA"

means European Public Real Estate Association;

"ERV"

(estimated rental value) is the rental value of the properties in the
Group’s portfolio, or parts thereof, reflecting the terms of the relevant
leases or, if appropriate, reflecting the fact that certain of the
properties, or parts thereof, have been valued on the basis of vacant
possession and the assumed grant of a new lease. ERV does not
reflect any ground rents, head rents or rent charges, or estimated
irrecoverable outgoings;

"Euroclear"

means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;

"European Economic Area"

means the contracting parties to the agreement on the European
Economic Area signed at Oporto on 2 May 1992;

"Events of Default"

has the meaning given in Condition 11.1 (Events of Default);

"Exchange Date"

means a day falling not less than 40 days after that on which the
notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for
business in the city in which the specified office of the Principal
Paying Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant
clearing system is located;

"Extraordinary Resolution"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Financial Statements"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"FSMA"

means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended;

"Further Issue"

has the meaning given in Condition 18 (Further Issue);
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"Global Bond"

means the Bonds as represented in global form by a single bearer
instrument;

"Group"

means the Guarantor together with its subsidiaries and affiliates;

"Gross Redemption Yield"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Guarantee"

has the meaning given in Condition 2.1 (Guarantee and Status);

"Guarantor"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Initial
Specifically
Mortgaged Premises"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Interest Cover Ratio" or
"ICR"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Interest Payment Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 7 (Interest);

"Interest Period"

has the meaning given in Condition 7 (Interest);

"Issue Date"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Issuer"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"ISIN"

means International Securities Identifying Number;

"Listing Rules"

the rules and regulations made by the FCA in its capacity as the UK
Listing Authority under FSMA and contained in the UK Listing
Authority’s publication of the same name;

"London Business Day"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"London Stock Exchange"

means the London Stock Exchange PLC;

"Longmartin Properties"

the properties owned by the Longmartin Joint Venture, principally St
Martin’s Courtyard;

"Longmartin Joint Venture"

Longmartin Properties Limited, which is owned in equal parts by the
Guarantor and The Mercers’ Company, and whose registered number
is 05291183 and whose registered office is Pegasus House, 37-43
Sackville Street, London, W1S 3DL;

"Managers"

means IDCM Limited and Lloyds Bank plc;

"Market"

means the London Stock Exchange's Regulated Market;

"Maturity Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Member State"

means a member state of the European Economic Area;

"Mortgaged Premises"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"NAI Certificate"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.4 (Valuation Reports and
Financial Information);
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"Net Annual Income"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Net Asset Value"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Notes"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Official List"

means the official list of the UK Listing Authority;

"Optional Redemption Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of
the Issuer);

"Pounds Sterling" or "£" or
"pence"

the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;

"Paying Agency Agreement"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Permitted Security"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Person"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Principal Paying Agent"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Property"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Prospectus"

means this document, comprising a circular and a prospectus relating
to the Issuer for the purposes of the issue of the Bond;

"Prospectus Directive"

means the directive of the European Parliament and the Council of the
European Union 2003/71/EC;

"Ratio Testing Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Receiver"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Redemption Price"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of
the Issuer);

"Regulatory News Service"

means the regulatory new service operated by the London Stock
Exchange;

"REIT"

a UK real estate investment trust;

"Relevant Clearing System"

means a relevant clearing system other than Euroclear and
Clearstream;

"Relevant Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Relevant Member State"

means any Member State of the European Economic Area which has
implemented the Prospectus Directive;

"Reporting Period"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Secured Creditors"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Secured Liabilities"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);
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"Securities Act"

means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933;

"Security"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Security Interest"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Short Gilts"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Specifically Mortgaged
Premises"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Stock"

means First Mortgage Debenture Stock due 2024 issued by the
Guarantor;

"Subscription Agreement"

means the agreement dated 5 October 2016 between the Issuer, the
Guarantor and the Managers, details of which are contained in the
section headed "Subscription and Sale";

"Subsidiary"

has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act, unless
otherwise provided in this Prospectus;

"Substituted Property"

has the meaning given in Condition 6.1 (Substitution of Specifically
Mortgaged Premises);

"Supplemental Trust Deed"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"The Mercers’ Company"

means The Wardens and Commonalty of the Mystery of Mercers of
the City of London, Mercers’ Hall, Ironmonger Lane, London EC2V
8HE established by Royal Charter in 1394;

"Taxes"

has the meaning given in Condition 10 (Taxation);

"Transaction Documents"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Trust Deed"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Trustee"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"UK" or "United Kingdom"

means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

"UK Listing Authority"

means the FCA in its capacity as the competent authority for listing
under Part VI of FSMA;

"U.S." or "United States" or
"United States of America"

means the United States of America, its territories and possessions,
any State of the United States and the District of Columbia;

"Valuation"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions);

"Value"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions); and

"Valuer"

has the meaning given in Condition 22 (Definitions).

All references to legislation in this Prospectus are to the legislation of England and Wales unless the contrary
is indicated. Any reference to any provision of any legislation shall include any amendment, modification, reenactment or extension thereof.
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Words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the masculine
gender shall include the feminine or neutral gender.
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Appendix 1 Audited financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 30 September 2015,
the related notes and independent auditor's report extracted from the Issuer's 2015 Annual
Report and Accounts
[Blank page]
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Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Report on the financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion, Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited’s financial statements (“the financial statements”):
 give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 30 September 2015 and of its
profit for the year then ended;
 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
What we have audited
The financial statements, included within the Annual Report, comprise:





the Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2015;
the Profit and Loss Account for the year then ended;
the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”.
In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements,
for example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made
assumptions and considered future events.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this
responsibility.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
(continued)
Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on pages 4 and 5, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (“UK and Ireland) (ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.
What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of:
 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
 the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.
We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider
necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through
testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report

Andrew Paynter (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
17 December 2015

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended 30 September 2015
2015

2014

Notes

£’000

£’000

Turnover

3

26,460

33,732

Property charges

4

(6,486)

(6,623)

19,974

27,109

(3,271)

(3,974)

16,703

23,135

114,613

179,578

131,316

202,713

3

11

(5,532)

(8,957)

(5,529)

(8,946)

125,787

193,767

-

-

125,787

193,767

Net property turnover
Administrative expenses

5

Operating profit before investment property valuation
movements
Investment property valuation movements

9

Operating profit
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar charges
Net interest payable and similar charges

6

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities
Profit for the financial year
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Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Balance Sheet
At 30 September 2015

Registered No. 2038836

Notes

2015

2014

£’000

£’000

Fixed assets
Investment properties

9

496,855

916,512

Accrued income

10

2,168

3,445

499,023

919,957

343,126

6,622

2,847

4,965

345,973

11,587

(6,359)

(204,484)

Net current assets/(liabilities)

339,614

(192,897)

Net assets

838,637

727,060

Current assets
Debtors

11

Cash at bank

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

12

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital

14

245,000

245,000

Profit and loss account

15

593,637

482,060

838,637

727,060

Total shareholder’s funds

On behalf of the Board who approved the financial statements on pages 8 to 18 on 17 December 2015.

C P A Ward
Director

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2015

Note
At 1 October 2013
Profit for the financial year

Called up
share
capital
£’000

Profit and
Loss
Account
£’000

Total
£’000

245,000

301,033

546,033

-

193,767

193,767

-

(12,740)

(12,740)

245,000

482,060

727,060

-

125,787

125,787

-

(14,210)

(14,210)

245,000

593,637

838,637

Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid during the year

8

At 30 September 2014
Profit for the financial year
Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid during the year
At 30 September 2015

8

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements
1. General information
Company information
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2015, were approved by the
Board for issue on 17 December 2015.
The nature of the Company’s operations is set out in the Strategic Report on page 3.
The Company is a limited company and is incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of the
registered office is given on page 2.
Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
in particular, Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and the
Companies Act 2006 (the Act). FRS 101 sets out a reduced disclosure framework for a ‘qualifying entity’ as
defined in the standard which addresses the financial reporting requirements and disclosure exemptions in
the individual financial statements of qualifying entities that otherwise apply the recognition, measurement
and disclosure requirements of EU-adopted IFRS.
The Company is a qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 101. Note 17 gives details of the Company’s
ultimate parent and from where its consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS may
be obtained.
The disclosure exemptions adopted by the Company in accordance with FRS 101 are as follows:








Cash flow statement;
Related party transactions between the parent and wholly-owned subsidiaries;
Reconciliation of investment property and ordinary share capital movements for the comparative
year;
Management of financial risk disclosures including management of credit, liquidity, and market risk
and interest rate sensitivity analysis;
Disclosures around categories of financial instruments;
Disclosure of new accounting standards and interpretations; and
Disclosures around the valuation techniques and inputs used in the revaluation of investment
properties.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the annual
revaluation of investment properties. A summary of the significant accounting policies is set out below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates
are based on the directors’ best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates. The valuations around investment properties are the only critical judgements,
assumptions and estimates in these financial statements and are discussed in more detail below.
A summary of the significant accounting policies which have been applied consistently in all years presented
is set out below.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
1. General information (continued)
Going concern
The Company adopts the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. The Company prepares
detailed forecasts which show that rental income which underpins the operational performance is expected
to continue to grow at a steady pace over the long-term.
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.
Critical judgements, assumptions and estimates
The Company’s significant accounting policies are stated in note 2. Not all of these significant accounting
policies require the directors to make difficult, subjective or complex judgements or estimates. However the
directors consider the valuation of investment property to be critical because of the level of complexity,
judgement or estimation involved and its impact on the financial statements. These judgements involve
assumptions or estimates in respect of future events. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The Company uses the valuations performed by its external valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, as
the basis for the fair value of its investment properties.
The valuation of the Company’s property portfolio is inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the
individual nature of each property, its location and the expected future rental income. As a result, the
valuations the Company places on its property portfolio are subject to a degree of uncertainty and are made
on the basis of assumptions which may not prove to be accurate, particularly in periods of volatility or low
transaction flow in the commercial property market. The investment property valuations contain a number of
assumptions upon which DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited have based their valuations, including, but not
limited to, matters such as the tenure and tenancy details for the properties, ground conditions at the
properties, the structural condition of the properties, prevailing market yields and comparable market
transactions. These assumptions are in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards. However, if any
assumptions made by the external valuers prove to be incorrect, this may mean that the value of the
Company’s properties differs from their valuation reported in the financial statements, which could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position.
2. Accounting policies
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties owned or leased by the Company which are held to generate rental
income or long-term capital appreciation or both.
Investment properties are initially recognised on acquisition at cost, including related acquisition costs, and
are revalued annually to reflect fair value. Fair value is determined either by external professional valuers or
by the directors in the case of properties sold shortly after the period end. The fair value, as determined by
the valuers, is reduced for any unamortised lease incentives held at the Balance Sheet date.
Gains or losses arising on the revaluation of investment properties are included in the Profit and Loss
Account in the accounting period in which they arise. Depreciation is not provided in respect of investment
properties.
Additions to properties include costs of a capital nature only. Expenditure is classified as capital when it
results in identifiable future economic benefits which are expected to accrue to the Company. All other
property expenditure is written-off in the Profit and Loss Account as incurred.
Amounts received by way of compensation for dilapidations from tenants vacating properties are credited
against the cost of reinstatement works. Where the Company has no intention of carrying out such works,
the amounts received are credited to the Profit and Loss Account.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
2. Accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)
Purchases and sales of investment properties are recognised in the financial statements on the date at
which there is a legally binding and unconditional contract.
Trade debtors and creditors
Trade debtors and trade creditors are recognised at fair value and subsequently held at amortised cost.
In the case of trade debtors a provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that
the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.
Cash at bank
Cash at bank comprises on-demand bank deposits.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from retained earnings.
Turnover
Turnover comprises rents receivable from tenants under operating leases, recognised on an accruals basis,
and recoverable expenses incurred on behalf of tenants. Rents are recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Value added tax is excluded from all amounts. Income arising as a result of rent
reviews is recognised when agreement of new terms is reasonably certain.
Premiums received from tenants to surrender their lease obligations are recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account, unless they arise in connection with a value-enhancing project in which case they are deducted
from project costs.
The cost of any incentives given to lessees to enter into leases is spread over the period from the lease
commencement date, to the earlier of its expiry date or to the date of the first break, on a straight-line basis.
Lease incentives are usually in the form of rent free periods.
Property charges
Irrecoverable property costs are charged to the Profit and Loss Account when they arise.
Premiums payable to tenants in connection with the surrender of their lease obligations are recognised
immediately in the Profit and Loss Account, unless they arise in connection with value-enhancing projects in
which case they are capitalised.
Leases
All of the Company’s leases to its tenants fall within the definition of operating leases, as substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Company.
Current and deferred corporation tax
The Company, together with other members of the Shaftesbury Group, is subject to taxation as a REIT.
Under the REIT regime, income from its rental business (calculated by reference to tax rather than
accounting rules) and chargeable gains from the sale of its investment properties are exempt from
corporation tax. As such, deferred tax is not provided in respect of the activities that fall within the REIT
regime including investment property revaluation movements.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3. Turnover
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Rents invoiced

26,357

30,057

Lease incentives

(1,888)

799

1,991

2,876

26,460

33,732

Recoverable property expenses

The Company’s turnover is generated entirely from its principal activity of property investment located in
London.
4. Property charges
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Property outgoings

4,495

3,747

Recoverable property expenses

1,991

2,876

6,486

6,623

5. Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses include a charge of £3,268,000 (2014: £3,971,000) by the ultimate parent
undertaking in respect of administrative services provided to the Company. This was settled by way of
intercompany indebtedness.
Audit fees amounting to £15,000 (2014: £15,500) have been met by the ultimate parent undertaking.
The four directors (2014: four) who served during the year received no remuneration for services as director
of the Company (2014: £Nil). The directors all served as directors of the Group during the year.
Remuneration received for services to the Group is borne by the ultimate parent undertaking. This is
disclosed on page 93 of the Shaftesbury PLC 2015 Annual Report.
The Company had no employees (2014: None).
6. Net interest payable and similar charges
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

5,532

8,957

(3)

(11)

5,529

8,946

Interest payable and similar charges
Interest payable on loan from ultimate parent undertaking
Interest receivable and similar income
Net interest payable and similar charges

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
7. Tax on profit on ordinary activities
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

125,787

193,767

25,786

42,629

(25,786)

(42,629)

-

-

Factors affecting the current tax charge:
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax at standard corporation tax rate 20.5% (2014: 22.0%)
REIT tax exempt profits and gains
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

The Company, together with other members of the Group, is subject to taxation as a Real Estate Investment
Trust (REIT). Under the REIT regime, income from its rental business (calculated by reference to tax rather
than accounting rules) and chargeable gains from the sale of its investment properties are exempt from
corporation tax. The Company continues to be subject to corporation tax on any other activities. The
directors expect that future profits will be derived principally from the Company’s rental business so that the
tax charge in future years will be minimal.
8. Dividends paid
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Year ended 30 September 2014 at 5.80p per share

14,210

-

Year ended 30 September 2013 at 5.20p per share

-

12,740

14,210

12,740

Final dividend paid in respect of:

A final dividend of 129.6p per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30 September 2015, amounting to
£317,520,000 will be proposed at the 2015 annual general meeting.
9. Investment properties
2015
£’000
At 1 October 2014

916,512

Refurbishment and other expenditure

9,100

Acquisitions

3,180

Group disposals

(546,550)

Surplus on revaluation

114,613

Book value at 30 September 2015

496,855

Add: Lease incentives recognised

2,705

Fair value at 30 September 2015

499,560

On 19 March 2015 and 3 August 2015 the Company transferred a number of properties located in and
around Carnaby Street, London to Shaftesbury AV Limited, a fellow subsidiary at their fair value.
Investment properties were subject to external valuation as at 30 September 2015 by qualified professional
valuers, being members of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), working for DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung Limited, Chartered Surveyors, acting in the capacity of external valuers. All such properties were
valued on the basis of fair value in accordance with the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards 2014.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
9. Investment properties (continued)
Investment properties include freehold properties valued at £422,610,000 (2014: £846,405,000), and
leasehold properties of £76,950,000 (2014: £74,700,000).
The Company had £65,000 (2014: £5,387,000) of authorised and contracted capital commitments at 30
September 2015.
10. Accrued income

Accrued income in respect of lease incentives recognised to date
Less: included in debtors (note 11)

2015
£’000
2,705

2014
£’000
4,593

(537)
2,168

(1,148)
3,445

Accrued income in respect of lease incentives is allocated between amounts to be charged against rental
income within one year of the Balance Sheet date and amounts which will be charged against rental income
in subsequent periods.
11. Debtors

Amounts due from tenants
Provision for doubtful debts
Accrued income in respect of lease incentives
Amount due from ultimate parent undertaking
Other debtors and prepayments

2015
£’000
1,632
(8)

2014
£’000
3,686
(154)

1,624
537
339,823
1,142
343,126

3,532
1,148
1,942
6,622

Amounts due from tenants at each year end included amounts contractually due and invoiced on 29
September in respect of rents and service charge contributions in advance for the period 29 September to 24
December. At 30 September 2015, amounts due from tenants which were more than 90 days overdue,
relating to accommodation and services provided up to 28 September 2015, and that were considered to be
past due totalled £118,000 (2014: £343,000). Provisions against these overdue amounts totalled £Nil (2014:
£148,000).
Amounts due from the ultimate parent undertaking are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are
repayable on demand.
At 30 September 2015, cash deposits totalling £2,066,000 (2014: £5,647,000) were held against tenants’
rent payment obligations. The deposits are held in bank accounts administered by the Company’s managing
agents.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amount due to ultimate parent undertaking
Rents and service charges invoiced in advance
Trade creditors and accruals in respect of capital expenditure
Other creditors and accruals

2015
£’000
4,671
436
1,252
6,359

2014
£’000
194,509
7,723
550
1,702
204,484

13. Contingent liabilities
The Company and some of its fellow subsidiaries have granted floating charges over all of their assets to
secure the indebtedness of Shaftesbury PLC to each of three banks, and a further floating charge in favour
of the trustee appointed in connection with the First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2024 issued by Shaftesbury
PLC securing amounts due. At 30 September 2015 the total net debt secured under these arrangements
totalled £260,734,000 (2014: £424,010,000).
In addition, certain investment properties are subject to first ranking legal charges in favour of certain of the
banks or the trustee referred to above to secure amounts owing by Shaftesbury PLC.
14. Called up share capital
Number
‘000

£’000

245,000

245,000

Allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each
At 1 October 2014 and 30 September 2015

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which have equal voting rights, rights to dividends and rights
on winding up of the Company.
15. Profit and loss account
The profit and loss account includes unrealised revaluation surpluses amounting to £275,887,000 (2014:
£467,842,000) which are not available for distribution.
16. Operating leases
Future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases:

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years but not later than ten years
Later than ten years

2015
£’000
14,231
30,387
14,297
9,306
68,221

2014
£’000
28,735
65,219
31,283
21,779
147,016

The Company has over 220 leases granted to its tenants. These vary depending on the individual tenant and
the respective property and demise. Leases generally have a term of 3 to 25 years (break clauses may
mean the actual term is shorter), at a market rent with provisions to review to market levels on a regular
basis.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17. Ultimate and immediate parent undertaking
The ultimate and immediate parent undertaking and controlling party is Shaftesbury PLC (registered number
1999238), which is the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial
statements. Copies of the financial statements of Shaftesbury PLC are available from the Company
Secretary at 22 Ganton Street, London, W1F 7FD. They are also available on the Group’s website at
www.shaftesbury.co.uk.

Appendix 2 Audited financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 30 September 2014,
the related notes and independent auditor's report extracted from the Issuer's 2014 Annual
Report and Accounts
[Blank page]
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Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Report on the financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion, Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited’s financial statements (the financial statements):
 give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 30 September 2014 and of its
profit for the year then ended;
 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
What we have audited
Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited’s financial statements comprise:





the Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2014;
the Profit and Loss Account for the year then ended;
the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”.
In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements,
for example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made
assumptions and considered future events.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Other matters on which we are required to report on by exception
Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this
responsibility.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
(continued)
Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on pages 4 and 5, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs (UK & Ireland)). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.
What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of:
 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
 the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.
We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider
necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through
testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Andrew Paynter (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
25 March 2015

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended 30 September 2014
Note

2014

2013

£’000

£’000

Turnover

3

33,732

30,369

Property charges

4

(6,623)

(6,034)

27,109

24,335

(3,974)

(2,914)

23,135

21,421

179,578

64,894

202,713

86,315

11

21

(8,957)

(9,164)

(8,946)

(9,143)

193,767

77,172

-

-

193,767

77,172

Net property turnover
Administrative expenses

5

Operating profit before investment property valuation
movements
Investment property valuation movements

9

Operating profit
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar charges
Net interest payable and similar charges

6

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities
Profit for the financial year

7

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Balance Sheet
At 30 September 2014

Registered No. 2038836

Note

2014

2013

£’000

£’000

Fixed assets
Investment properties

9

916,512

693,131

Accrued income

10

3,445

2,928

919,957

696,059

6,622

5,275

4,965

3,605

11,587

8,880

(204,484)

(158,906)

(192,897)

(150,026)

727,060

546,033

Current assets
Debtors

11

Cash at bank

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

12

Net current liabilities

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital

14

245,000

245,000

Profit and loss account

15

482,060

301,033

727,060

546,033

Total shareholder’s funds

On behalf of the Board who approved the financial statements on pages 8 to 18 on 25 March 2015.

C P A Ward
Director

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2014

Note
At 1 October 2012
Profit for the financial year

Called up
share
capital
£’000

Profit and
Loss
Account
£’000

Total
£’000

245,000

236,111

481,111

-

77,172

77,172

-

(12,250)

(12,250)

245,000

301,033

546,033

-

193,767

193,767

-

(12,740)

(12,740)

245,000

482,060

727,060

Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid during the year

8

At 30 September 2013
Profit for the financial year
Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid during the year
At 30 September 2014

8

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements
1. General information
Company information
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2014, were approved by the
Board for issue on 25 March 2015.
The nature of the Company’s operations is set out in the Strategic Report on page 3.
The Company is a limited company and is incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of the
registered office is given on page 2.
Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
in particular, Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and the
Companies Act 2006 (the Act). FRS 101 sets out a reduced disclosure framework for a ‘qualifying entity’ as
defined in the standard which addresses the financial reporting requirements and disclosure exemptions in
the individual financial statements of qualifying entities that otherwise apply the recognition, measurement
and disclosure requirements of EU-adopted IFRS.
The Company is a qualifying entity for the purposes of FRS 101. Note 17 gives details of the Company’s
ultimate parent and from where its consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS may
be obtained.
The disclosure exemptions adopted by the Company in accordance with FRS 101 are as follows:








Cash flow statement;
Related party transactions between the parent and wholly-owned subsidiaries;
Reconciliation of investment property and ordinary share capital movements for the comparative
year;
Management of financial risk disclosures including management of credit, liquidity, and market risk
and interest rate sensitivity analysis;
Disclosures around categories of financial instruments;
Disclosure of new accounting standards and interpretations; and
Disclosures around the valuation techniques and inputs used in the revaluation of investment
properties.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the annual
revaluation of investment properties. A summary of the significant accounting policies is set out below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates
are based on the directors’ best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates. The valuations around investment properties are the only critical judgements,
assumptions and estimates in these financial statements and are discussed in more detail below.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
1. General information (continued)
Going concern
The Company adopts the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. The Company prepares
detailed forecasts which show that rental income which underpins the operational performance is expected
to continue to grow at a steady pace over the long-term.
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.
Critical judgements, assumptions and estimates
The Company’s significant accounting policies are stated in note 2. Not all of these significant accounting
policies require the directors to make difficult, subjective or complex judgements or estimates. However the
directors consider the valuation of investment property to be critical because of the level of complexity,
judgement or estimation involved and its impact on the financial statements. These judgements involve
assumptions or estimates in respect of future events. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The Company uses the valuations performed by its external valuer, DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, as
the basis for the fair value of its investment properties.
The valuation of the Company’s property portfolio is inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the
individual nature of each property, its location and the expected future rental income. As a result, the
valuations the Company places on its property portfolio are subject to a degree of uncertainty and are made
on the basis of assumptions which may not prove to be accurate, particularly in periods of volatility or low
transaction flow in the commercial property market. The investment property valuations contain a number of
assumptions upon which DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited have based their valuations, including, but not
limited to, matters such as the tenure and tenancy details for the properties, ground conditions at the
properties, the structural condition of the properties, prevailing market yields and comparable market
transactions. These assumptions are in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards. However, if any
assumptions made by the external valuers prove to be incorrect, this may mean that the value of the
Company’s properties differs from their valuation reported in the financial statements, which could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position.
2. Accounting policies
Investment properties
Investment properties are properties owned or leased by the Company which are held to generate rental
income or long-term capital appreciation or both.
Investment properties are initially recognised on acquisition at cost, including related acquisition costs, and
are revalued annually to reflect fair value. Fair value is determined either by external professional valuers or
by the directors in the case of properties sold shortly after the period end. The fair value, as determined by
the valuers, is reduced for any unamortised lease incentives held at the Balance Sheet date.
Gains or losses arising on the revaluation of investment properties are included in the Profit and Loss
Account in the accounting period in which they arise. Depreciation is not provided in respect of investment
properties.
Additions to properties include costs of a capital nature only. Expenditure is classified as capital when it
results in identifiable future economic benefits which are expected to accrue to the Company. All other
property expenditure is written-off in the Profit and Loss Account as incurred.
Amounts received by way of compensation for dilapidations from tenants vacating properties are credited
against the cost of reinstatement works. Where the Company has no intention of carrying out such works,
the amounts received are credited to the Profit and Loss Account.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
2. Accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)
Purchases and sales of investment properties are recognised in the financial statements on the date at
which there is a legally binding and unconditional contract.
Trade debtors and creditors
Trade debtors and trade creditors are recognised at fair value and subsequently held at amortised cost.
In the case of trade debtors a provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that
the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.
Cash at bank
Cash at bank comprises on-demand bank deposits.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from retained earnings.
Turnover
Turnover comprises rents receivable from tenants under operating leases, recognised on an accruals basis,
and recoverable expenses incurred on behalf of tenants. Rents are recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Value added tax is excluded from all amounts. Income arising as a result of rent
reviews is recognised when agreement of new terms is reasonably certain.
Premiums received from tenants to surrender their lease obligations are recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account, unless they arise in connection with a value-enhancing project in which case they are deducted
from project costs.
The cost of any incentives given to lessees to enter into leases is spread over the period from the lease
commencement date, to the earlier of its expiry date or to the date of the first break, on a straight-line basis.
Lease incentives are usually in the form of rent free periods.
Property charges
Irrecoverable property costs are charged to the Profit and Loss Account when they arise.
Premiums payable to tenants in connection with the surrender of their lease obligations are recognised
immediately in the Profit and Loss Account, unless they arise in connection with value-enhancing projects in
which case they are capitalised.
Leases
All of the Company’s leases to its tenants fall within the definition of operating leases, as substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Company.
Current and deferred corporation tax
The Company, together with other members of the Shaftesbury Group, is subject to taxation as a REIT.
Under the REIT regime, income from its rental business (calculated by reference to tax rather than
accounting rules) and chargeable gains from the sale of its investment properties are exempt from
corporation tax. As such, deferred tax is not provided in respect of the activities that fall within the REIT
regime including investment property revaluation movements.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3. Turnover

Rents invoiced
Lease incentives
Recoverable property expenses

2014
£’000

2013
£’000

30,057

26,377

799

1,234

2,876

2,758

33,732

30,369

The Company’s turnover is generated entirely from its principal activity of property investment located in
London.
4. Property charges
2014
£’000

2013
£’000

Property outgoings

3,747

3,276

Recoverable property expenses

2,876

2,758

6,623

6,034

5. Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses include a charge of £3,971,000 (2013: £2,913,000) by the ultimate parent
undertaking in respect of administrative services provided to the Company. This was settled by way of
intercompany indebtedness.
Audit fees amounting to £15,500 (2013: £14,000) have been met by the ultimate parent undertaking.
The four directors (2013: five) who served during the year received no remuneration for services as director
of the Company (2013: £Nil). The directors all served as directors of the Group during the year.
Remuneration received for services to the Group is borne by the ultimate parent undertaking. This is
disclosed on page 70 of the Shaftesbury PLC 2014 Annual Report.
The Company had no employees (2013: None).
6. Net interest payable and similar charges
2014
£’000

2013
£’000

8,957

9,164

(11)

(21)

8,946

9,143

Interest payable and similar charges
Interest payable on loan from ultimate parent undertaking
Interest receivable and similar income
Net interest payable and similar charges

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
7. Tax on profit on ordinary activities
2014
£’000

2013
£’000

193,767

77,172

42,629

18,135

(42,629)

(18,135)

-

-

Factors affecting the current tax charge:
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax at standard corporation tax rate 22.0% (2013: 23.5%)
REIT tax exempt profits and gains
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

The Company, together with other members of the Group, is subject to taxation as a Real Estate Investment
Trust (REIT). Under the REIT regime, income from its rental business (calculated by reference to tax rather
than accounting rules) and chargeable gains from the sale of its investment properties are exempt from
corporation tax. The Company continues to be subject to corporation tax on any other activities. The
directors expect that future profits will be derived principally from the Company’s rental business so that the
tax charge in future years will be minimal.
8. Dividends paid
2014
£’000

2013
£’000

Year ended 30 September 2013 at 5.20p per share

12,740

-

Year ended 30 September 2012 at 5.00p per share

-

12,250

12,740

12,250

Final dividend paid in respect of:

A final dividend of 5.80p per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30 September 2014, amounting to
£14,210,000 will be proposed at the 2015 annual general meeting.
9. Investment properties
2014
£’000
At 1 October 2013

693,131

Refurbishment and other expenditure

11,468

Acquisitions

32,335

Surplus on revaluation

179,578

Book value at 30 September 2014

916,512

Add: Lease incentives recognised

4,593

Fair value at 30 September 2014

921,105

Historic cost of properties at valuation

449,406

Investment properties were subject to external valuation as at 30 September 2014 by qualified professional
valuers, being members of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), working for DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung Limited, Chartered Surveyors, acting in the capacity of external valuers. All such properties were
valued on the basis of fair value in accordance with the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards 2014.
Investment properties include freehold properties valued at £846,405,000 (2013: £637,730,000), and a
notional apportionment of value in respect of part freehold/part leasehold property where the apportionment
in respect of the leasehold element with over 50 years unexpired is £74,700,000 (2013: £59,195,000).

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
9. Investment properties (continued)
The Company had £5,387,000 (2013: £11,348,000) of authorised and contracted capital commitments and
£12,000,000 (2013: £450,000) authorised but not contracted capital commitments at 30 September 2014.
10. Accrued income

Accrued income in respect of lease incentives recognised to date
Less: included debtors (note 11)

2014
£’000
4,593

2013
£’000
3,794

(1,148)
3,445

(866)
2,928

Accrued income in respect of lease incentives is allocated between amounts to be charged against rental
income within one year of the Balance Sheet date and amounts which will be charged against rental income
in subsequent periods.
11. Debtors

Amounts due from tenants
Provision for doubtful debts
Accrued income in respect of lease incentives
Other debtors and prepayments

2014
£’000
3,686
(154)
3,532
1,148
1,942
6,622

2013
£’000
2,793
(80)
2,713
866
1,696
5,275

Amounts due from tenants at each year end included amounts contractually due and invoiced on 29
September in respect of rents and service charge contributions in advance for the period 29 September to 24
December. At 30 September 2014, amounts due from tenants which were more than 90 days overdue,
relating to accommodation and services provided up to 28 September 2014, and that were considered to be
past due totalled £343,000 (2013: £293,000). Provisions against these overdue amounts totalled £148,000
(2013: £80,000).
At 30 September 2014, cash deposits totalling £5,647,000 (2013: £4,706,000) were held against tenants’
rent payment obligations. The deposits are held in bank accounts administered by the Company’s managing
agents.

12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amount due to ultimate parent undertaking
Rents and service charges invoiced in advance
Trade creditors and accruals in respect of capital expenditure
Other creditors and accruals

2014
£’000

2013
£’000

194,509

150,005

7,723

6,763

550

543

1,702

1,595

204,484

158,906

Amounts due to the ultimate parent undertaking are unsecured, bear a commercial rate of interest, have no
fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
13. Contingent liabilities
The Company and some of its fellow subsidiaries have granted floating charges over all of their assets to
secure the indebtedness of Shaftesbury PLC to each of four banks, and a further floating charge in favour of
the trustee appointed in connection with the First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2024 issued by Shaftesbury
PLC securing amounts due. At 30 September 2014 the total net debt secured under these arrangements
totalled £424,010,000 (2013: £545,232,000).
In addition, certain investment properties are subject to first ranking legal charges in favour of certain of the
banks or the trustee referred to above to secure amounts owing by Shaftesbury PLC.
14. Called up share capital
Number
‘000

£’000

245,000

245,000

Allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each
At 1 October 2013 and 30 September 2014

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which have equal voting rights, rights to dividends and rights
on winding up of the Company.
15. Profit and loss account
The profit and loss account includes unrealised revaluation surpluses amounting to £467,842,000 (2013:
£288,264,000) which are not available for distribution.
16. Operating leases
Future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases:
2014
£’000

2013
£’000

Not later than one year

28,735

27,303

Later than one year but not later than five years

65,219

63,013

Later than five years but not later than ten years

31,283

28,027

Later than ten years

21,779

22,914

147,016

141,257

The Company has over 420 leases granted to its tenants. These vary depending on the individual tenant and
the respective property and demise. Leases generally have a term of 3 to 25 years (break clauses may
mean the actual term is shorter), at a market rent with provisions to review to market levels on a regular
basis.
17. Ultimate and immediate parent undertaking
The ultimate and immediate parent undertaking and controlling party is Shaftesbury PLC (registered number
1999238), which is the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial
statements. Copies of the financial statements of Shaftesbury PLC are available from the Company
Secretary at 22 Ganton Street, London, W1F 7FD. They are also available on the Group’s website at
www.shaftesbury.co.uk.

Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
18. Subsequent events
On 19 March 2015, the company transferred properties totalling £283.15 million to Shaftesbury Av Limited, a
fellow subsidiary undertaking of Shaftesbury PLC. The transfer was at fair market value and was settled by
intercompany indebtedness. Subsequent to the transfer, it was resolved that the amount due to the company
from Shaftesbury Av Limited be assigned to Shaftesbury PLC, the immediate and ultimate parent company.
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